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Our Mission is to become a top tier financial services company 
with core competencies in Capital Markets, Strategic Investment 
and Asset Management to capitalize on growing opportunities 

resulting from China’s development, and to be respected by our 
shareholders, employees, clients and peers as an organization 

that delivers exceptional results and value.

Sunwah International Limited (TSX symbol: SWH) is a global 
financial services company and asset manager with operations 

in Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Shanghai, Beijing, Macau and 
Toronto, enabling us to act as a trusted intermediary in 

bringing the international investment community together with 
opportunities arising from China’s growth. We are the controlling 

shareholders of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited, 
one of Hong Kong’s leading local brokerage firms and capital 

markets advisors, listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code:188).
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finanCial HigHligHts

June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009

Financial Overview (US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000)
   

Revenue from services and other income 16,270 12,350 10,630

Trading income/(loss) 11,214 7,306 (1,327)

Total revenue 27,484 19,656 9,303

Income/(loss) before discontinued operations 891 (1,333) (6,159)

Income/(loss) for the year 891 4,140 (6,728)

Total assets 129,477 136,638 112,533

Total long-term liabilities (4,429) (7,014) (6,349)

(US$) (US$) (US$)

Income/(loss) before discontinued operations

 (on a per-share basis) 0.0098 (0.0161) (0.0768)

Income/(loss) before discontinued operations

 (on a diluted per-share basis) 0.0096 (0.0161) (0.0768)

Net income/(loss) (on a per-share basis) 0.0098 0.0500 (0.0839)

Net income/(loss) (on a diluted per-share basis) 0.0096 0.0495 (0.0839)

Cash dividends declared per common share 0.0103 0.0188 0.0190

Total Revenue Net Income/(Loss)
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CHairMan’s stateMent

Fiscal 2011 was essentially about 
combining the strengths of two 

organizations to create a new and 
improved, internationally focused 
company with a polished growth 

strategy that capitalizes on China’s 
development and emergence as 

one of the world’s major economies.
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CHairMan’s stateMent

Fiscal 2011 was monumental for Sunwah International. Commemorating our 21st anniversary, during the year we 

significantly enhanced our operational performance and officially embarked on our next phase of growth while continuing 

to carve out our specialized niche and competitive positioning.

Central to these developments, the 12-month period ended June 30, 2011 beheld another significant milestone: The 

blending of strengths of two companies as the Kingsway Group combined forces with Sunwah Group, the Hong Kong 

multinational of which I am also Chairman, to build what is now a much stronger organization.

From the beginning, Sunwah Group bought into the original Kingsway vision as its primary investor. Over the years, 

we supported the company’s growth, gradually increasing our position over time. A month into Fiscal 2011, Sunwah 

became the controlling shareholder of Sunwah International (formerly Kingsway International), a vibrant company guided 

by foresight, innovation and integrity.

In integrating the best aspects of two companies, we are embarking on a new era in the organization’s development. 

To mark this evolution, Kingsway International changed its name to Sunwah International in December 2010, enabling 

the company to leverage the Sunwah brand and 55-year track record in Asia. This new identity better aligns with 

our international business strategy while enabling us to benefit from Sunwah’s global track record and goodwill. The 

new brand also reflects the company’s integration within the wide-reaching Sunwah network as well as the synergies 

uncovered by this combination of strengths and increased involvement of Sunwah at the operational and management 

levels.

Since its inception more than two decades ago, Sunwah International has evolved according to major economic 

shifts, methodically cementing its position as a leader in Greater China and creating a unique niche in which to grow 

and prosper. Now, we are poised to capitalize on another emerging paradigm as China establishes itself as a leading 

global consumer of natural resources, creating significant opportunity for financial intermediaries with Chinese roots 

like Sunwah International as China turns to the global community in search of raw materials and energy to support its 

growth.

Sunwah International’s Hong Kong roots are also set to play a key role in aiding us to capture these flows. When 

China’s journey toward an open-market economy was in its early stages, we understood that the best way to benefit 

from China’s ultimate economic rise was to establish a solid presence in Hong Kong, a preferred Asian financial centre 

and the perfect springboard for business ventures connecting East and West. Before most companies could even 

conceive of a China strategy, we positioned ourselves to capture the flow of capital and financial services between 

China and international business through the establishment of Sunwah Kingsway Capital (formerly SW Kingsway 

Capital), one of Hong Kong’s most respected local brokerage firms and capital markets advisors with offices throughout 

mainland China. As a result of this foresight, we now find ourselves very well situated, particularly given Hong Kong’s 

stance as a financial gateway to China and Asia’s leading capital market for natural resources as well as an asset 

management and offshore Renminbi centre. Having faithfully serviced the Hong Kong marketplace through the former 

Kingsway Group and Sunwah Group for 21 and 55 years respectively, we are fortunate to enjoy solid market share 

and a very firm foothold within this pulsating region, which we believe will continue to entrench its position as a global 

economic leader as time goes on.
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Sunwah International moves forward now as a new and very different company, yet the key elements that have come 

together to create this refined organization are anything but new: The Sunwah name/brand and business network; 

the vision behind our revitalized business model; our long-standing track record and reputation in Greater China; and 

the guiding of the company according to our core values of integrity, respect, accountability and excellence. All the 

essentials remain intact; rather, it is their blending that has made us different and markedly stronger.

As Sunwah International moves into our third decade, embarking on our next phase of development, we do so with 

pride for what we have accomplished as well as with excitement for what lies ahead. With the full support of Sunwah 

Group, this refreshed business is uniquely positioned to uncover and capitalize on new opportunities backed by a 

sharpened competitive edge. I am excited by what lies ahead and am honoured to be your Chairman at this juncture in 

the new company’s development.

In conclusion, I would like to thank our loyal shareholders for their tremendous patience and commitment as well as 

our directors, executives and professionals for their ongoing drive and dedication towards uncovering synergies and 

solidifying our vision.

Dr. Jonathan Koon Shum Choi, BBS, JP

Chairman
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Fiscal 2011 was a monumental 
year for Sunwah International 
marked by great change and 

transition as we implemented our 
new business model and combined 
forces with Sunwah Group, giving 

us access to significant relationship 
and business development 

networks throughout Greater 
China. The result of this integration 

of strengths is a fundamentally 
different company with strategic 
positioning in what we believe to 
be one of the most favourable 
operating environments in the 

world. 
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In combining the former Kingsway Group’s over 20 years of capital markets excellence in Greater China with Sunwah’s 

operational and added financial support, the result is a fundamentally different company. This blending of strengths set 

in motion a string of key events during the year, including executive-level management changes and the adoption of a 

new name and brand. On the heels of our corporate revitalization and strategic repositioning of 2010, these changes 

were essentially the finishing touches to the new Sunwah International.

FY2011 Performance

During the first half of Fiscal 2011, capital markets worldwide sustained an upward swing, continuing to perform well 

and gather momentum following the financial crisis of 2008. Benefiting from this favourable operating environment, 

strong liquidity in the Hong Kong marketplace, and the initial impact of our corporate revitalization, Sunwah International 

reported solid gains for the first two quarters.

Global market conditions once again began to wane in the second half of the fiscal year, particularly in North America 

and Europe, which had an adverse effect on our financial results for the last two quarters. Thankfully, however, during 

this time the effects of our strategic repositioning had started to take firm root, enabling us to withstand the full force of 

the downturn alongside continued – albeit more conservative – growth in the Greater China marketplace where our new 

growth strategy is centred.

In line with a focus during the year on improving income diversification and increasing fee-based revenues, for the fiscal 

year ended June 30, 2011 we significantly enhanced our operational performance, increasing revenues by US$ 7.8 

million to US$ 27.5 million. However, despite this shift, net income was down year-over-year to US$ 0.9 million, the 

result of a non-recurring net gain in FY2010 and increased selling and administrative expenses stemming in part from 

the process of transitioning to our new business model.

Corporate Strategy

A key element of our enhanced business model and new strategic direction involves positioning the company to 

withstand market fluctuations not only by driving service revenues across our suite of offerings but also through the 

creation of new opportunities in line with our corporate revitalization, enabling us to capitalize on China’s growth.

The last few years have given rise to a significant shift in global capital markets. After several years of unprecedented 

growth, China is now emerging as an insatiable global consumer of commodities and not just a low cost producer and 

exporter of goods. This is a trend we foresaw when we embarked upon our repositioning, and which we expect to drive 

solid growth in the resource sectors in years to come. Adding to our alignment as a middle tier intermediary of choice 

in this space, the Sunwah International team offers a solid background in natural resources gained at the hands of 

our long-time presence in Canada, renowned as the world’s leading capital market for this sector. As a result, we are 

poised to take advantage of increasing worldwide demand within this space, particularly in mining and energy where we 

have established a solid niche foothold in line with our strategic strengths.

In addition to our targeted sector focus, which enables us to benefit from China’s growth even amid economic 

downturns, the diversification of our income base helps to further enhance the company’s competitive stance. 

For example, an element of our expansion strategy involves the development of our asset and fund management 

capabilities, which remains a focus for Sunwah International in order to help stabilize our revenue base.
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By leveraging our Hong Kong roots and solid asset management experience in this 

dynamic region, Sunwah International is positioning itself to capitalize on Hong Kong’s 

emergence as a major world asset management centre and gateway to China. We firmly 

believe that the flow of investment capital from Europe, North America and the Middle 

East towards Asia, particularly China and Southeast Asia, will increase. Owing to our new 

strategic positioning, we are primed to capture these flows in our capacity as a respected 

financial services provider within the relatively unpopulated mid-market space where the 

focus is on medium-sized transactions and where we enjoy a solid edge.

Core Divisions

Another component of our new competitive edge involves the recent reorganization of our 

business across three integrated divisions: (1) Capital Markets Group (CMG), consisting 

of our Greater China focused brokerage and financial services division; (2) Strategic 

Investment Group (SIG), a global merchant bank focused on energy and resources (and 

related) opportunities; and (3) Asset Management Group (AMG), the company’s fund 

management business, specializing in managed and private equity funds.

Capital Markets Group:

Sunwah International’s Capital Markets Group is spearheaded by the newly re-named and 

re-branded Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (formerly SW Kingsway Capital 

Holdings Limited), an award-winning Hong Kong based brokerage firm and one of the 

region’s most respected financial services providers. This firm rooting in Hong Kong is 

central to the division’s growth strategy given the region’s proximity to China and the fact 

that Hong Kong is widely acknowledged as a leader of the global economy.

During the year, under the direction of new CEO, Mr. Michael Choi, Sunwah Kingsway 

experienced significant growth thanks largely to a strong push in business development 

efforts and the building of our corporate finance business. As Hong Kong further 

establishes itself as a major international business hub and gateway for foreign investment 

in China, our Capital Markets Group continues to evolve in tandem, uncovering unique 

and lucrative opportunities to drive revenues.
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Strategic Investment Group:

Sunwah International’s Strategic Investment Group is essentially a focused merchant banking operation, using 

proprietary funds to invest in key sectors of Asia’s fastest developing economies. This enables our shareholders to 

indirectly invest in promising projects with solid upside potential that are typically only offered to institutions and high 

net worth individuals. The Group’s initial investments have focused on opportunities in the natural resources sector, with 

a particular focus on the assets and resources that China needs most for its growth, which need further investment or 

development prior to reaching their potential value.

Asset Management Group:

Sunwah International’s Asset Management Group has recently taken the initiative to organize and fund Sunwah 

International Asset Management (“SIAM”), to capitalize on favourable market conditions in Greater China for asset/wealth 

management. SIAM, a global fund platform which is to operate on the “family of funds” model, was launched during 

the fiscal year to brand and co-manage a series of discretionary funds, investing in promising pre-IPO and non-public 

entities in line with our corporate strategy. Sunwah International will continue to look for other novel and creative means 

for participating in the asset and fund management area with a view to creating additional avenues of stabilized cash 

flow for the Group.

Outlook

Fiscal 2011 was a year of great change and transition as we implemented our new business model and joined forces 

with Sunwah Group. This integration of strengths combined with our new business model represents the platform upon 

which the company will grow.

It is widely acknowledged that China is a major worldwide economic force. We are all aware of the country’s 

tremendous potential. Notwithstanding current concerns over China’s slowing growth, we firmly believe that China will 

continue to establish itself as a more and more dominant driver of world economic development.

Despite this unique market alignment, our Fiscal 2012 year is unfolding alongside challenging global capital markets. 

The first quarter (July through September) was associated with falling stock markets worldwide, collapsing real estate 

markets in many areas, concerns over the strength of the European Union and its member states, and increasing 

concerns over the ability of the Chinese economy to continue to drive growth. We expect these issues to continue to 

impact global equity markets for some time to come; however, we are buoyed by the fact that we are well positioned 

relative to many of our global counterparts.



13Sunwah International Limited  Annual Report 2011

Ceo’s report

13Sunwah International Limited  Annual Report 2011

As a result of the inherent strength of China’s economy, Sunwah International believes the Asian capital markets, 

particularly Hong Kong, will continue to outperform those of North America and Europe not only in terms of capital 

markets activity, but also with respect to new financings. We also expect an increase in Renminbi (RMB) based debt 

financings and as such are further positioning the company to take advantage of such opportunities, leveraging our 

Mainland presence and our reputation as a leading home grown financial services organization in Hong Kong.

Hong Kong has emerged as a major international business hub and a capital market of choice for even the world’s 

largest financial institutions. More importantly from our perspective, the region is solidifying its position as Asia’s leading 

natural resources capital market and the international gateway for investment in China due to its strong connection with 

this energetic and increasingly influential economy.

As a Hong Kong based mid-market financial intermediary of choice linking China’s growing economy with major world 

investment centres, Sunwah International is well positioned for solid growth with an outlook for Fiscal 2012 and beyond 

that is positive. Founded on the strength and growth of the China and Hong Kong economies, our vision is materializing 

alongside our unique market positioning. Strong underlying markets in China and Hong Kong, sound economic 

fundamentals across Asia, the integrated nature of our new business model, and our targeted sector focus converge 

with our strategic Chinese and international affiliations and the Sunwah name to establish the platform upon which we 

as a company are moving to the next level and building shareholder value.

Conclusion

More than ever, I believe our investment carries significant opportunity. Sunwah International is a company that is 

uniquely positioned to capitalize on China’s growth and need for foreign capital as well as its desire to invest in other 

countries through a trusted, Chinese intermediary.

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to the dedicated professionals who have made 

this company what it is today and helped us to build a 20+ year legacy. Your hard work and commitment are greatly 

appreciated.

Lastly, on behalf of the board, I thank you, our shareholders and supporters, for your patience, ongoing commitment 

and invaluable support. Please know that we are resolutely dedicated to enhancing the value of the investment you 

have entrusted to us.

Douglas C. Betts

President and CEO
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the Capital Markets group 
spans all geographic locations to capitalize on bilateral 

opportunities between North America and China, with a 

primary focus on investment banking and brokerage services 

in Hong Kong and China.

the strategic investment group
invests proprietary funds and conducts merchant bank 

operations in key economic sectors of the Chinese 

economy, such as mining and natural resources.

the asset Management group 
manages and invests in listed or unlisted fund vehicles in real 

estate, media, infrastructure, private equity and other asset 

categories.
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In the following sections of this Annual Report, 
Sunwah International provides an overview of its 
principal operating groups. This review reflects 

the Company’s direction for growth as outlined in 
its strategic plan, touching also upon the world in 

which SWH operates.

Sunwah International’s vision is to build a financial 
services organization with three distinct yet 

synergistic businesses that operate in Hong Kong, 
China and Canada.

Vision, Business 

anD oUtlooK
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Since its inception more than 20 
years ago, Hong Kong based 

Sunwah Kingsway has expanded 
through strong leadership, 

determination and dedicated client 
service, resulting in its current 
positioning as a leading local 

brokerage firm and respected mid-
market financial services provider 

with global reach and vision.
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Since its early days as a Hong Kong based, regionally focused securities firm more than two 

decades ago, Sunwah International’s Capital Markets Group, spearheaded by Sunwah Kingsway 

Capital Holdings Limited, has evolved greatly. Through strong leadership and dedicated client 

service, Sunwah Kingsway has expanded to cement its current status as a leading Hong Kong 

based brokerage firm and respected middle market financial services provider with global reach.

Over the years, Sunwah Kingsway’s business has grown to include a wide array of offerings in 

the areas of corporate finance, institutional sales, trading, brokerage and research. Showcasing 

its capacity for excellence, Sunwah Kingsway is regularly a top contender for the “Best Local 

Brokerage in Hong Kong” ranking by the Asiamoney Broker’s Poll, an honour in which it has placed 

in the top three for the last six years.

Today, with offices throughout China, affiliate operations in North America and a distribution network 

that extends worldwide, Sunwah Kingsway finds itself at a new juncture in its development marked 

by a formal name change and corporate identity overhaul in September 2011. The new name 

enables the former SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited to better leverage the brand, reputation 

and network of now controlling shareholder, Sunwah Group, and reflects a refreshed expansion 

strategy associated with a change in management in Fiscal 2011.

Sunwah Kingsway Performance:

With new CEO, Mr. Michael Choi, at the company’s helm, Sunwah Kingsway’s operational 

performance improved substantially during its Fiscal 2011 year thanks to a strong increase in 

corporate development initiatives and a focus on increasing service revenues. As a result, Sunwah 

Kingsway reported a respectable increase in profit from approximately HK$10.5 (US$1.3) million in 

FY2010 to HK$46.6 (US$6.0) million in FY2011, reflecting particularly solid growth in commission 

and fee income over last year.

The revival of Hong Kong’s equity capital markets in Fiscal 2011 increased Sunwah Kingsway’s 

corporate finance, underwriting and placing fee activities substantially with the company 

participating in numerous underwriting and placing activities, including three IPO transactions 

and 12 share placements. Of particular note, during the year the group acted as the sponsor for 

the listing of Modern Education Group Limited (“MEGL”), an education firm providing after-school 

tutoring services, on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. MEGL is the first 

education firm listed in Hong Kong, illustrating our commitment to foresight and innovation.

English Version English Version English Version
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Outlook

As our Capital Markets Group embarks on its third decade of dedicated client service backed by a new name, 

brand and leader, Sunwah Kingsway remains committed to its long-term diversification strategy designed to enable 

the company to prosper amid good economic times and to remain competitive in the face of a downturn. Although 

challenging financial markets currently prevail, the company firmly believes that where there is challenge there is also 

opportunity.

Hong Kong is the natural market of choice for Chinese companies and investors seeking China exposure, also laying 

claim to Asia’s third largest exchange by capitalization. Further, Hong Kong’s financial markets have forged strong 

links with international capital markets, facilitating its ability to act as a gateway and attract capital from the West to be 

invested in China via Hong Kong. As a result, given Hong Kong’s unique relationship with China, an economy that is 

expected to continue to experience solid growth as it transitions to a consumption-led growth model, Sunwah Kingsway 

is favourably positioned to capitalize on opportunities arising from the company’s unique foothold in Greater China.

Brokers Poll 
2010

Top 2 Best 
Hong Kong Local Brokerage

Best Banks
Awards 2009

Best Domestic
Equity House

Brokers Poll 
2008 & 2009

Best Hong Kong
Local Brokerage

2006 Country Awards
for Achievement

Hong Kong
Best Broker

2005 Country Awards
for Achievement

Hong Kong
Best Broker

Brokers Poll 
2007

Top 3 Best 
Hong Kong Local Brokerage

Brokers Poll 
2005 & 2006

Top 2 Best 
Hong Kong Local Brokerage

Benchmark Survey 2004
Top 2 Hong Kong Brokerage House

Benchmark Survey 2003
Top 3 HK/ China Brokerage House
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A core element of Sunwah International’s business involves using our own funds for direct 

investment in quality opportunities with considerable upside, which stand to benefit from 

the country’s continued economic rise. In keeping with our core strengths and refocused 

business model, this division was recently repositioned to capitalize on the significant 

opportunities presented by China’s increased domestic consumption of resources and 

demand for foreign sources to fuel its industrial growth. As well, Sunwah International 

benefits from our presence and experience in Toronto, the worlds’ largest capital market for 

mining and resources, and our relationships with Chinese investors and resource consumers 

in Hong Kong, which is emerging as the largest capital market for mining and resources in 

Asia.

During the fiscal year, our Strategic Investment Group’s key investments in Macarthur 

Minerals (TSX: MMS) and Salmon River Resources (TSXV: SAL) performed well, although 

since year-end both have experienced a decline in share price in conjunction with struggling 

equity markets the world over. Sunwah International also holds smaller positions in a 

number of publicly listed and private companies in the natural resources sector, all of which 

are focused on the developing needs of China.

Outlook

A large portion of the company’s growth over the last 20 years has been funded by our 

strategic investment efforts, including structured investments and trading investments, 

a trend we expect to continue given strong underlying market fundamentals. China is 

emerging as the worlds’ leading consumer of natural resources. In addition to having 

surpassed India as the largest gold consumer on earth, it has overtaken the United States 

as the world’s biggest consumer of energy with this demand expected to double by 2030. 

As a result, China has a strong need to look internationally for new and additional energy 

resources to sustain its growth, which bodes well for this group’s prospects.

Moving forward, we are confident in this division’s ability to contribute healthily to Sunwah 

International’s bottom line not only in terms of capital gains connected with merchant 

banking initiatives, but also through service revenues stemming from cross pollination 

opportunities with our advisory business.
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Sunwah International’s Asset Management Group has an established track record for 

investing in promising, pre-IPO and non-public entities through targeted pools of capital. 

Traditionally, this division focused on managing capital for our own account as well as for 

joint venture initiatives with prominent Asian firms. However, in line with the company’s 

strategic repositioning, and to capitalize on impressive growth in the Hong Kong asset/

wealth management arena, we have extended our focus to include managed and private 

equity funds.

Sunwah International Asset Management (SIAM)

During the fiscal year, our Asset Management Group launched Sunwah International Asset 

Management (SIAM), in which Sunwah International has a 70% stake, the balance being 

held by its management. A global fund platform bringing an Asian perspective to emerging 

and growth markets, SIAM was created as an additional channel for capitalizing on rapid 

growth in China and Southeast Asia. It is intended that all funds under the SIAM umbrella 

will offer a nexus to these regions with an emphasis on sectors that are positioned to 

benefit most from continuing growth in these areas.

2 3
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TCA Group

In Fiscal 2010, Sunwah International’s Asset Management Group acquired a 14% interest in TCA Group, a structured 

investment vehicle engaged in the acquisition of high-end automotive dealerships throughout South China. The TCA 

investment provides a unique opportunity in a high growth market overseen by an experienced fund management 

group.

The TCA interest comes along with a 10% interest in the general partnership (GP) that manages the TCA fund on a 

retainer and success fee basis. This two-tiered structure provides our Asset Management Group with both capital gains 

from TCA and participation in revenues of the GP.

Outlook

Hong Kong is seeing exciting growth levels of asset and wealth management, which is expected to continue given 

the growing international focus of China’s investment outlook and regulatory schemes that provide for increased 

capital outflow. As a result of strong industry fundamentals, Sunwah International’s unique market positioning and solid 

business model, we are confident in our Asset Management Group’s ability to deliver solid results in the future and 

contribute soundly to our growth and financial stability.
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Fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 – this document is dated September 21, 2011 and filed on September 26, 2011

This management’s discussion & analysis (“MD&A”) for the year ended June 30, 2011 (“FY2011”) should be read in 

conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Sunwah International Limited (formerly known as 

“Kingsway International Holdings Limited”) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and 

are expressed in United States dollars. The consolidated financial statements and MD&A have been reviewed and 

approved by the Company’s Audit Committee, while the MD&A has been reviewed and approved by the Company’s 

Disclosure Committee. The Company’s auditors have audited the consolidated financial statements and read the 

MD&A. Management has designed disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that material 

information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to them by others within 

those entities, particularly during the period in which the annual filings are being prepared, and are disclosed in public 

documents as required. Management has also designed and implemented internal controls over financial reporting to 

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 

liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 

during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, current trends and various 

other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates.

1. Business Overview

Through its principal subsidiaries, Sunwah International Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is a strategically 

positioned asset-based financial services provider, linking the global investment community with the PRC’s high growth 

economy. In addition to engaging in proprietary investment activities, the Group offers a variety of complementary, client 

focused services through two operating groups: capital markets and asset management. The Group’s primary operating 

subsidiary is Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as “SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited”) 

(“SWK”), which is based in Hong Kong and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The SWK group is licensed 

to provide a range of financial services. The Group operates from six offices located in Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, 

Shenzhen, Macau and Toronto.

The last year has witnessed dramatic changes to the world’s financial landscape. Without question China is now a 

dominant player on the world’s financial stage. The United States is deeply divided on the political front which appears 

to have significant ramifications on its ability to deal with its growing debt and stubborn high unemployment rates; 

and the European Union is under increased pressure from potential defaults by Portugal, Spain, Italy and Greece in 

their sovereign debt and weakening banking systems. Japan, the world’s third largest economic force, is suffering the 

economic after effects of a shattering earthquake, resultant tsunami and meltdown of nuclear reactors.

Conversely the Chinese Renminbi is increasingly being viewed as a potential reserve currency. China, not without its 

issues, still remains as one of the most settled growing economic regions. Also increasing in strength are the South 

East Asian nations such as Indonesia, Malaysia, Vietnam and the Philippines, many of which are incredibly rich in the 

resources needed by China.
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We continue to believe that China’s two greatest needs will be energy and resources, driven by the continued growth of 

the burgeoning middle class. The Company is positioned to be a provider of financial services in these sectors and an 

opportunistic investor in these and related sectors. The Group’s strategy continues to be to use its investment activities 

strategically to generate advisory services revenue while creating value for its shareholders through asset accumulation 

and investment in the sectors on which it focuses. We also seek to create a platform of more stable revenue by 

increasingly focusing on opportunities in the asset and fund management sectors.

The Company operates as a China focused, multi-disciplined, asset based financial services firm, with a focus on 

natural resources, infrastructure and real estate. While its focus may be in China, Sunwah International’s investment 

interests are global.

2. Market Environment and General Impact on the Group

2.1 FY2011

During the first half of FY2011, capital markets worldwide appeared to recover from the financial crisis of 2008. 

Generally speaking, markets in both North America and Western Europe outperformed the markets in emerging markets, 

particularly China and Brazil, which were affected by the tightening monetary policies in order to control inflation in those 

developing countries. However during the second half of FY2011, a number of issues surfaced affecting the long term 

stability of both the European Common Market (“ECM”) and the recovery in the United States. The European markets 

began to focus on the significant debt and funding issues affecting several of the member states of the ECM. Towards 

the end of the FY2011 capital markets worldwide, particularly in the United States, began to focus on the inability of 

the United States to deal with its substantial increase in debt and the potential failure of the Senate and the House of 

Representatives in the United States to reach agreement with the Executive Office with respect to renewal of the credit 

limits of the US Government.

As the Group’s business is increasingly global, the financial performance of capital markets outside of Asia will have a 

significant impact in the financial performance of the Company, and increasingly, the Group.

In FY2011, the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) traded in a range of 19,700 – 24,900 and closed at 22,398 as at June 30, 

2011, compared to 20,129 at June 30, 2010. The average monthly turnover on the Main Board and GEM of the Hong 

Kong Stock Exchange was approximately US$196 billion in FY2011, compared to US$173 billion in FY2010. The 

funds raised from IPOs on the Main Board were doubled to US$73 billion in FY2011, as compared to US$35 billion in 

FY2010.

However, the issues of fiscal imbalance and excess debt loads of member states in the ECM caused a significant 

deterioration in the European capital markets at the end of FY2011. Reflecting the concerns of the markets with the 

failure of the Government of the United States to deal with its debt levels, after the end of FY2011, Standard & Poor’s 

downgraded the US credit rating to one notch below AAA in early August 2011. By the end of FY2011 these negative 

factors were impairing international investor confidence and creating more uncertainties in the global financial markets in 

Asia, North America and Europe.
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2.2 Outlook for FY2012

The Company believes that China will continue to be a major factor of growth in the World’s economy, not simply as an 

exporter of low cost goods, but increasingly as a consumer. The Company believes that its focus on natural resources 

– in particular mining and energy – will help position it to be less susceptible to swings in the market and to benefit from 

China’s continuing growth. Accordingly, the Company expects China’s continuing demand for resources to drive growth 

in the resource sectors, in particular both mining and energy. Increasingly, we expect the Chinese Renminbi to play a 

larger role in international currency transactions driven by China’s increased global stature as an international investor 

and the growing weakness of the US Dollar.

We believe that the flow of investment capital from Europe (both Western and Eastern Europe), North America and the 

Middle East towards Asia will increase, particularly in China and South East Asia. The Group continues to position itself 

as a financial services provider participating in these flows of capital. As a consequence, we are increasingly focused 

on the development of our asset and fund management capabilities to enhance our participation in this flow. We believe 

that by adding fund and asset management capabilities, we will stabilize the revenue base for our Group, thereby 

enhancing shareholder value.

As a consequence of the underlying strength of the Chinese economy, we believe the Asian capital markets, particularly 

Hong Kong, will continue to outperform the North American and European capital markets not only in terms of capital 

markets performance but also in terms of the number of new financings. We expect a substantial increase in Renminbi 

based debt financings and the Group is positioning itself to have the capacity to participate in this sector. China’s 

growth will continue to be tempered by policies of the Chinese authorities designed to moderate growth and to quell 

inflation, which will result in a more modest period of capital markets activities in both China and Hong Kong from that 

experienced in the last few years. However FY2012 will be a difficult year for investors as capital markets worldwide 

(including Hong Kong) adjust to the issues arising from the ECM and the United States referred to above and to a 

slowing of the growth of the Chinese economy.

3. Overview – FY2011 vs FY2010

The Group recorded a net income of US$0.9 million in FY2011, compared to US$4.1 million in FY2010.

The Group recorded an income before income taxes, non-controlling interests and discontinued operations of US$2.5 

million for FY2011, compared to a loss of US$0.7 million for FY2010.

The company declared a final dividend of Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 0.01 per common share to shareholders of record 

as at October 12, 2011. The Board has taken into account the operating cash flow requirements of the Company and 

the cash dividend received and receivable from SWK, its primary operating subsidiary, in determining the amount of the 

dividend.
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4. Financial Overview

4.1 Selected Annual Information

June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009

(US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000)

Revenue from services and 

 other income 16,270 12,350 10,630

Trading income/(loss) 11,214 7,306 (1,327)

Total revenue 27,484 19,656 9,303

Income/(loss) before discontinued 

 operations 891 (1,333) (6,159)

Income/(loss) for the year 891 4,140 (6,728)

Total assets 129,477 136,638 112,533

Total long-term liabilities (note) (4,429) (7,014) (6,349)

(US$) (US$) (US$)

Income/(loss) before discontinued 

 operations (on a per-share basis) 0.0098 (0.0161) (0.0768)

Income/(loss) before discontinued 

 operations (on a diluted per-share 

 basis) 0.0096 (0.0161) (0.0768)

Net income/(loss) (on a per-share 

 basis) 0.0098 0.0500 (0.0839)

Net income/(loss) (on a diluted 

 per-share basis) 0.0096 0.0495 (0.0839)

Cash dividends declared per 

 common share 0.0103 0.0188 0.0190

Note: Total long-term liabilities include non-current portion of convertible debentures, bank loans and obligations under capital leases.

4.2 Revenue

On a consolidated basis, the Group recognizes two main revenue streams, namely, (i) revenue from services and other 

income and (ii) trading income. Revenue from services and other income is mainly derived from the commission and 

fee income from its financial intermediary business and dividend and interest income. Revenue from trading income is 

derived from trading activities for its own account.

Revenue from services and other income from continuing operations increased 32% to US$16.3 million in FY2011 

from US$12.4 million in FY2010 as a result of the increase in market activities which led to the increase in advisory fee 

income for initial public offerings (“IPO”), related preparatory work and the increase in margin financing and IPO financing 

interest income. Trading income, both realized and unrealized, of US$11.2 million was recorded in FY2011, compared 

to US$7.3 million in FY2010. The increase in trading income was mainly due to the continued recovery of the stock 

market in the current year. The Group recorded total revenue of US$27.5 million for FY2011, compared to US$19.7 

million for FY2010.
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4.3 Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased 30% to US$23.9 million in FY2011 from US$18.3 million in FY2010. The 

increase was mainly due to (i) the increase in staff costs (including basic salary, commission and variable staff costs) 

which was in line with the increase in operating income; (ii) the non-cash transactions in relation to the recognition 

of US$2.2 million compensation costs for the stock options granted by the Company and SWK to several directors, 

officers and employees of the Group; and (iii) the related costs for the set-up of SIAM operations in our Asset 

Management division.

4.4 Other Gain/(Loss)

A US$2.1 million non-cash loss in relation to the fair value changes on financial derivative liabilities and net loss on 

repurchase, amendment of terms and conversion of the Company’s issued unsecured convertible debentures was 

recorded in FY2011. The fair value loss was US$0.2 million in FY2010.

A non-recurring gain on deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary, SWK, of US$2.6 million was recorded in FY2011. 

In FY2010, the Group recorded a one-off gain of US$5.7 million on disposal of shares of jointly controlled entities 

classified as discontinued operations.

4.5 Share of Results of Investments Subject to Significant Influence

Share of loss on investments subject to significant influence increased to US$0.4 million for FY2011, compared to 

US$0.02 million for FY2010, as a result of the net unrealized loss from the investment portfolio in investee companies, 

offset by the gain on liquidation of an associated company.
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5. Quarterly Review

Revenue 

from 

services 

and other 

income

Trading 

income/

(loss)

Total

revenue

(Loss)/

income 

before

discontinued

operations

Net (loss)/

income for 

the period

(Loss)/

income 

before 

discontinued 

operations 

for the 

period per 

share

(Loss)/

income 

before 

discontinued 

operations 

for the 

period per 

share (fully 

diluted)

Net (loss)/

income for 

the period 

per share

Net (loss)/

income for 

the period 

per share 

(fully diluted)

(US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000) (US$) (US$) (US$) (US$)

Quarter Ended

June 30, 2011 5,200 (3,294) 1,906 (4,735) (4,735) (0.0525) (0.0472) (0.0525) (0.0472)

March 31, 2011 3,484 3,097 6,581 (1,151) (1,151) (0.0127) (0.0111) (0.0127) (0.0111)

December 31, 2010 4,506 8,833 13,339 6,212 6,212 0.0687 0.0617 0.0687 0.0617

September 30, 2010 3,080 2,578 5,658 565 565 0.0063 0.0062 0.0063 0.0062

16,270 11,214 27,484 891 891

June 30, 2010 3,423 (7,220) (3,797) (7,614) (7,614) (0.0843) (0.0836) (0.0843) (0.0836)

March 31, 2010 2,681 8,439 11,120 4,361 10,044 0.0543 0.0537 0.1250 0.1238

December 31, 2009 3,031 6,276 9,307 3,835 3,735 0.0477 0.0476 0.0465 0.0464

September 30, 2009 3,215 (189) 3,026 (1,915) (2,025) (0.0238) (0.0238) (0.0252) (0.0252)

12,350 7,306 19,656 (1,333) 4,140

5.1 Review of Quarterly Figures

In FY2010 and FY2011, the Hong Kong market has gradually recovered from the global financial crisis. In FY2011, the 

developed markets outperformed the emerging markets and showed strong performance as a result of a relatively loose 

credit environment.

The major financial markets reached their highest levels in the second quarter of the current fiscal year as a result of 

the second quantitative easing program launched by the US Federal Reserve in November 2010. The Hong Kong 

stock market regained the momentum with the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) reaching a new high post global financial crisis 

at 24,988 in November 2010. In addition, the fund raising activities recovered, as evidenced by extremely large fund 

raising activities including the listings of AIA Group Limited in October 2010 in Hong Kong.
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The Hong Kong market traded at a narrow range in the second half year of FY2011, as a result of the tightening 

monetary policies implemented by the PRC government and the spread of the European sovereign debt crisis. The 

impact of earthquake in Japan in March 2011 followed by the nuclear crisis was temporary. The bulk of the market 

decline as a consequence of the Japanese earthquakes was reversed within a matter of days. The HSI closed at 

22,398 as at June 30, 2011, compared to 23,528, 23,035 and 22,358 as at March 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 

and September 30, 2010 respectively. The HSI closed at 20,129 as at June 30, 2010.

Average monthly turnover on the Main Board in Q4 of FY2011 was US$179 billion, compared to US$201 billion, 

US$236 billion and US$168 billion for Q3, Q2 and Q1 of FY2011 respectively and US$160 billion for Q4 of FY2010. 

Funds raised from public offerings on the Main Board was US$20.1 billion for Q4 of FY2011, compared to US$2 billion, 

US$37 billion and US$14 billion for Q3, Q2 and Q1 of FY2011 respectively and US$2 billion in Q4 of FY2010.

The Group reported total revenue of US$1.9 million for Q4 of FY2011, compared to negative total revenue of US$3.8 

million for the same quarter of FY2010. A net loss of US$4.7 million was recorded for Q4 of FY2011, compared to net 

loss of US$7.6 million for Q4 of FY2010.

6. Operational Review

6.1 Capital Markets

6.1.1 Brokerage

In thousands of US$ Brokerage

For the year ended June 30, 2011 2010

Commission & fee income 8,326 8,120

Interest and other income 749 429

Trading loss (36) (24)

9,039 8,525

Inter-segment revenue 325 101

Selling and administrative expenses (10,570) (10,286)

Share of (loss)/profit of investments subject to significant influence (24) 15

Other expenses (153) (190)

Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (1,383) (1,835)

Commission and fee income of the brokerage division increased to US$8.3 million for FY2011 from US$8.1 million 

for FY2010, attributable to the increase in turnover on both equities and derivative warrants trading in the current year. 

Interest and other income increased to US$0.7 million in FY2011, compared to US$0.4 million in FY2010, as a result 

of the increase in interest income from the growth of the margin lending book driven by the demand from the Group’s 

corporate and high net worth clients.
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The division’s institutional sales team was appointed by The Bank of East Asia, Limited as its agent to provide liquidity 

for the derivative warrants issued by the bank during the year. This in turn allowed the team to benefit from increased 

derivative warrant trading.

Selling and administrative expenses increased to US$10.6 million in FY2011, compared to US$10.3 million in FY2010. 

This increase was mainly attributed to the increase in variable staff costs which were in line with the increase in 

operating income in the division.

The overall loss decreased 25% to US$1.4 million in FY2011, compared to US$1.8 million in FY2010.

Kingsway Financial Services Group Limited (“Kingsway”), the Group’s subsidiary engaged in securities, options and 

futures brokerage business in Hong Kong, was ranked the top three in the category of Best Local Brokerage in Hong 

Kong as determined by the Asiamoney Brokers Poll in November 2010. Kingsway has enjoyed the top three honors for 

the last six consecutive years.

The Group’s research department hosted an Investors Conference in September 2010 and arranged meetings with 20 

Hong Kong listed companies and several institutional investors to share the business strategies and latest information of 

our small to medium sized enterprise clients.

6.1.2 Corporate Finance & Capital Markets

In thousands of US$ Corporate Finance & Capital Markets

For the year ended June 30, 2011 2010

Commission & fee income 4,746 2,372

Interest and other income 88 35

Trading (loss)/income (2) 83

4,832 2,490

Inter-segment revenue 245 –

Selling and administrative expenses (5,593) (2,734)

Other expenses (27) (463)

Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (543) (707)

The division encompasses both the equity capital market and corporate finance teams in Hong Kong and Canada.

The Hong Kong team provides corporate finance services to the small-to-mid cap market in Hong Kong. The Canadian 

team provides advisory services to a number of clients in both Canada and the PRC. In particular, the Canadian team 

advises Canadians on investment and joint venture strategies in the PRC and with Chinese companies seeking listings 

on Canadian exchanges and investment in non-PRC entities.

Commission and fee income of the division doubled to US$4.7 million for FY2011 from US$2.4 million for FY2010. The 

significant increase in the corporate finance, underwriting and placing fee income was attributable to the revival of the 

equity capital markets in FY2011.



33Sunwah International Limited  Annual Report 2011

ManageMent's DisCUssion & analYsis

Selling and administrative expenses increased 105% to US$5.6 million for FY2011 from US$2.7 million for FY2010, 

mainly attributable to the increase in variable staff costs which were in line with the increase in fee income in FY2011. In 

FY2010, a write back of staff bonus of US$0.4 million was recorded and there was no such write back in FY2011.

The division recorded a loss of US$0.5 million in FY2011, compared to US$0.7 million for FY2010.

The division participated in several underwriting and placing activities, including 3 IPO transactions and 12 shares 

placing transactions. The Group acted as the sponsor for the listing of an education firm providing after-school tutoring 

services, Modern Education Group Limited on the Main Board in the current year. Modern Education Group Limited is 

the first education firm listed in Hong Kong.

The objective of this division continues to be a financial services provider to the mid cap sector of the market place.

6.2 Asset Management

6.2.1 Asset Management

In thousands of US$ Asset Management

For the year ended June 30, 2011 2010

Commission & fee income – 3

– 3

Selling and administrative expenses (1,041) (179)

Share of loss of investments subject to significant influence – (20)

Other expenses (2) (1)

Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (1,043) (197)

In FY2011, Sunwah International Asset Management (“SIAM”) was created as a global fund platform in the “family of 

funds” model. The funds will include a number of private equity funds focusing on different segments and regions. In 

the last quarter of FY2011, SIAM entered into discussions for the acquisition of a fund management company and 

the novation of two investment management agreements for UK-based oil and gas energy funds. Because of the 

deteriorating market conditions, particularly in Europe where these acquisitions were based, the proposed transactions 

were terminated in August 2011.

The division recorded an overall loss of US$1.0 million for FY2011, compared to US$0.2 million for FY2010. This loss 

was mainly attributable to the expenses incurred for the set-up of SIAM’s operations and the due diligence costs for the 

terminated proposed transactions.

The division will continue to develop the asset management business and will seek to arrange for new private equity 

funds in the natural resource sector, particularly mining and energy.
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6.3 Strategic Investment

6.3.1  Investment In Securities

In thousands of US$ Investment in Securities

For the year ended June 30, 2011 2010

Dividend income 682 441

Interest and other income 108 –

Trading income 8,805 6,423

9,595 6,864

Selling and administrative expenses (1,434) (882)

Other expenses (2) (6)

Income before income taxes and non-controlling interests 8,159 5,976

Trading income increased 37% to US$8.8 million for FY2011 from US$6.4 million for FY2010, attributable to the 

recovery of the stock market in FY2011. The division captured the upward movement of the market, especially in the 

second quarter of the current fiscal year, and realized several investments in FY2011. In FY2011, the division invested in 

several investment products and is diversifying its investment portfolio in order to decrease its holding of large positions 

in individual stock.

Selling and administrative expenses increased to US$1.4 million in FY2011 from US$0.9 million in FY2010, attributable 

to the increase in variable staff costs as a result of the increase in operating income in FY2011.

Overall, an income of US$8.2 million was recorded for FY2011, compared to US$6.0 million for FY2010.

6.3.2 Structured Investment

In thousands of US$

For the year ended June 30,

Structured Investment

2011 2010

Continuing 

Operations

Discontinued 

Operations Total

Continuing 

Operations

Discontinued 

Operations Total

Commission & fee income 2 – 2 6 – 6

Dividend income 186 – 186 – – –

Interest and other income – – – – 515 515

Trading income 2,447 – 2,447 824 – 824

2,635 – 2,635 830 515 1,345

Selling and administrative expenses (1,162) – (1,162) (1,115) (376) (1,491)

Share of loss of investments subject to 

 significant influence (340) – (340) (17) – (17)

Other (expenses)/income (2,983) – (2,983) (1,162) 7,260 6,098

(Loss)/income before income taxes and 

 non-controlling interests (1,850) – (1,850) (1,464) 7,399 5,935
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Investment has been made in several listed securities of natural resources companies together with an investment in a 

vehicle engaged in the acquisition and operations of high-end automotive dealerships in the PRC.

In FY2011, investment was made in unlisted equity securities engaged in provision of education services and unlisted 

private investment funds. In addition, the Group acquired approximately a 30% interest in Salmon River Resources 

Ltd. (TSXV: SAL) which is engaged in the evaluation, acquisition, exploration and development of gold and base metal 

mineral properties in Australia.

Revenue from continuing operations increased to US$2.6 million for FY2011 from US$0.8 million for FY2010, 

attributable to the increase in net unrealized gain on the investment portfolios in FY2011.

US$0.3 million fair value gain on several investments classified as available for sale financial assets was recognized in 

other comprehensive income in FY2011.

In December 2010, the Company amended the terms of the unsecured convertible debentures with the reduction of 

the coupon interest rate from 9% to 1% per annum and the extension of the maturity date by two years to September 

2013. The conversion price and the redemption price of the debentures were also reduced from CAD0.80 to CAD0.55 

per share. The liability component and the conversion option derivative component of the original convertible debentures 

issued in 2008 were extinguished and were de-recognized in December 2010. A new liability component and a 

new conversion option derivative component in relation to the debentures were recognized. The conversion option 

derivative component is recalculated as at each balance sheet date. During the year, CAD0.5 million principal amount of 

debenture were repurchased and CAD1.0 million were converted into the Company’s shares.

Other expenses from continuing operations increased to US$3.0 million in FY2011, compared to US$1.2 million in 

FY2010, mainly attributable to the increase in fair value loss on the convertible option derivative component of the 

convertible debentures and the net loss on repurchase, amendment of terms and conversion of debentures.

In November 2009, the Group entered into a share purchase agreement to dispose of the Group’s interests in jointly 

controlled entities, Total Express Investments Limited (“Total Express”) and assign the debts due from jointly controlled 

entities at a consideration of approximately US$25 million. The subsidiaries of Total Express jointly held the investment 

properties located in the PRC. The disposal of Total Express was completed in March 2010 and resulted in a gain of 

US$7.7 million (before non-controlling interests) during that year. The related results of the Total Express group were 

separately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as discontinued operations in accordance 

with the Canadian GAAP.

The division recorded an overall loss from continuing operations of US$1.9 million for FY2011, compared to US$1.5 

million for FY2010. Excluding the non-cash charge related to the net loss on financial derivative liabilities and convertible 

debentures of US$2.1 million, the division recorded an overall income from continuing operations of US$0.2 million for 

FY2011.
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6.4 Corporate and Other Activities

In thousands of US$ Corporate and Other Activities

For the year ended June 30, 2011 2010

Commission & fee income 1,058 768

Interest and other income 325 176

1,383 944

Inter-segment revenue 3,290 2,625

Selling and administrative expenses (7,957) (5,843)

Other income/(expenses) 2,420 (216)

Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests (864) (2,490)

Revenues in the division were mainly sourced from the Group’s technology division which provides development and 

distribution of computer software and hardware services. It also includes the provision of management, administrative 

and corporate secretarial services. Total revenue increased to US$1.4 million in FY2011 from US$0.9 million in FY2010.

Selling and administrative expenses increased 36% to US$8.0 million in FY2011 from US$5.8 million in FY2010, mainly 

attributable to the recognition of US$2.1 million non-cash compensation costs in relation to the grant of stock options 

by the Company and SWK to several directors, officers and employees of the Group in FY2011.

In FY2011, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group sold 324,820,000 and 108,000,000 shares of SWK to independent 

third parties at a price of HK$0.238 (approximately equivalent to US$0.03) per share and HK$0.265 (approximately 

equivalent to US$0.03) per share (“Placing Price”) respectively. At the same time, the subsidiary subscribed for 

324,820,000 and 108,000,000 of the new shares issued by SWK at the same Placing Price. The Group’s shareholding 

in SWK reduced from 74.25% to 65.52% after the two placing. A non-recurring gain of US$2.6 million on the deemed 

partial disposal was recorded as other income in FY2011.

Excluding the gain on deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary, other expenses remained stable at US$0.2 million for 

FY2011 and FY2010.

The corporate and other activities of the Group incurred an overall loss of US$0.9 million for FY2011, compared to 

US$2.5 million for FY2010.
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7. Financial and Liquidity Position, Capital Structure

7.1  Non-Controlling Interests

The following table shows the movement in the non-controlling interests:

Non-controlling 

Interests

In millions of US$

At June 30, 2010 18.0

Injection of capital to subsidiaries by non-controlling interests 13.8

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (1.3)

Deemed partial disposal gain attributable to the holding company

 upon placement to non-controlling interests (2.6)

Release of reserve upon deemed partial disposal 0.5

Share of income 1.5

Share of reserves 0.3

At June 30, 2011 30.2

7.2  Working Capital and Liquidity

The Group’s business requires capital for operating and regulatory purposes. The objective for capital management is to 

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, to enhance shareholders’ value and to match the funding 

needs of the business. The Group generally finances its operations from internal resources.

Senior management of the Group regularly monitor its working capital requirements and consider other means of 

financings including issuance of shares or debentures when necessary, in order to maintain necessary liquidity.

The majority of current assets reflected on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet are highly liquid, consisting of cash 

and bank balances and financial assets held for trading. The majority of the positions held as securities owned are 

readily marketable and all are recorded at their fair value. The fair value of these securities fluctuates daily as factors 

such as changes in market conditions, economic conditions and investor outlook affect market prices.

As at June 30, 2011, the liquid resources of the Group consisting of cash and cash equivalents and financial assets 

held for trading amounted to US$68.5 million, compared to US$78.1 million as at June 30, 2010. Accounts receivable 

and prepaid expenses were US$40.0 million as at June 30, 2011, compared to US$45.8 million as at June 30, 2010. 

The liquidity ratio (i.e. current assets/current liabilities) increased to 3.7 as at June 30, 2011 from 2.5 as at June 30, 

2010.

Total borrowings (including both short-term and long-term payable portions) were US$8.7 million as at June 30, 

2011, compared with US$7.4 million as at June 30, 2010. As at June 30, 2011, the Group’s borrowings were mainly 

comprised of the liability and financial derivative components of the Company’s convertible debentures.

The Group’s gearing ratio (i.e. total borrowings/shareholders’ equity) was 14% as at June 30, 2011, compared to 12% 

as at June 30, 2010. This ratio is within the Group’s target range and did not affect the strong liquidity position the 

Group has enjoyed in the past.
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Significant cash flow changes for the year of FY2011 were as follows:

– Net sale of financial assets held for trading amounted to US$22.7 million;

– Purchase of available for sale financial assets and investments subject to significant influence amounted to 

US$7.9 million;

– Repayment of bank loans of US$20.8 million, of which US$20.3 million were short-term bank loans drawdown 

in the current fiscal year for IPO subscription;

– Issue of shares and warrants in a subsidiary amounted to US$13.6 million; and

– Payment of FY2010 final dividend of US$1.8 million.

8. Commitments

The Group has entered into operating lease agreements and certain other commitments.

•	 Amounts	payable	in	future	years	ending	June	30	for	operating	lease	commitments	are	as	follows:

Contractual Obligations

Less than  

1 year 2 – 3 years 4 – 5 years Total

(US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000) (US$’000)

Operating Leases 1,526 310 182 2,018

Purchase Obligations 18 8 – 26

Total Contractual Obligations 1,544 318 182 2,044

•	 As	at	June	30,	2011,	the	Group	entered	into	several	underwriting	agreements	in	relation	to	the	initial	public	

offerings and right issue of certain companies and had a gross commitment of approximately US$5.8 million 

(2010: US$0.8 million).

•	 On	March	30,	2011,	a	subsidiary	of	the	Group	entered	into	a	conditional	agreement	with	Ms.	Choi	Siu	Ping,	

sister of Dr. Jonathan Choi and Mr. Michael Choi, to acquire 100 issued shares, representing 10% of the issued 

share capital of VinaCapital Group Limited at a consideration of HK$149 million, approximately equivalent to 

US$19.1 million. VinaCapital Group Limited is an investment holding company for a financial services group 

conducting investment activities and providing investment management services in Vietnam. The Group 

terminated the transaction on September 1, 2011.
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9. Subsequent Events

•	 On	August	8,	2011,	the	Group	entered	into	a	provisional	agreement	with	an	independent	third	party	to	acquire	

a property with purchase price of HK$206.3 million, approximately equivalent to US$26.5 million. The property 

comprise the entire 7th floor of Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong and will be used as 

the Group’s office premises. The transaction is expected to be completed on or before January 19, 2012.

•	 On	June	27,	2011,	the	Group	announced	the	proposed	acquisition	of	a	80%	shareholding	interest	in	PCE	

Investors Limited, the proposed novation of the investment management agreements of RAB Energy Fund and 

RAB Octane Fund as well as an investor’s commitment on investing into the RAB Energy and Octane Fund. 

Subsequently on August 10, 2011, the Group announced the Group’s and the potential investor’s termination of 

the proposed transactions due to the uncertainties in the United States and European markets. (See 6.2.1 Asset 

Management)

10. Discussion of Risks and Uncertainties

10.1 Overview

Risk and uncertainty are a constant element facing financial services providers. As an entity engaged in linking the 

global investment community with China’s economy, the Group is exposed to a wide range of risks and uncertainties 

that could result in financial losses. The Group’s principal risks are: (i) market risk; (ii) operational risk; and (iii) other 

risks.

10.2 Risk Management Structure and Governance

The Group’s risk management process is comprehensive in scope and relies upon senior management’s knowledge 

of the Group’s business lines and the ability to understand and adjust to market conditions. The Group’s senior 

management has developed policies and procedures to monitor, assess and control the wide range of risks and 

uncertainties facing the Group. These policies and procedures are periodically reviewed so that the Group’s risk 

management process can evolve with the ever changing financial landscape.

To monitor the Group’s exposure to risks, it has implemented a series of reporting systems. These reporting systems 

cover such areas as investment criteria, trading policies, accounting policies and procedures, regulatory compliance 

and credit monitoring. The information provided by these reporting systems allows senior management to mitigate 

identified risks and uncertainty.

One method in which the Group mitigates risk is through the adoption of internal controls. Senior management will 

adopt and implement these internal controls, while the Board, which has an oversight responsibility over the risk 

management process, monitors the effectiveness of these internal controls.

10.3 Market Risk

The Group’s activities include trading on its own account and are exposed to price risk, liquidity risk and volatility risk. 

The Company mitigates its risk exposure through oversight and review of trading activities by senior management and 

the Investment Monitoring Committee (“IMC”) and the implementation of guidelines and policies. The IMC monitors 

independently the position of the Group’s proprietary trading activities involving equities and derivatives. Senior 

management and the Group’s Finance Department also monitor the trading results on a daily basis. Senior management 

also actively monitors the aging and concentration levels. The liquidity position is also closely monitored by the senior 

management to ensure the Group maintains a prudent and adequate liquidity ratio and ensure the availability of 

sufficient liquid funds to meet the Group’s obligation and complies with the relevant statutory requirements for various 

licensed subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and for a Canadian subsidiary with Exempt Market Dealer registration.
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The Group’s business activities on lending, settlement, treasury, market making and proprietary trading also expose the 

Group to credit risk where a counterparty may default on its payment obligations. The credit risk exposure is mitigated 

through the implementation of controls, a variety of limits controls as well as guidelines and policies. The Finance and 

Credit Committees in Hong Kong establishes the credit approval and monitoring procedures with reference to sound 

business practices and relevant ordinances, codes or guidelines issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures 

Commission, where applicable. These policies and guidelines on credit controls include creditworthiness, collateral 

pledge and risk concentration of counterparties. The Operations Department performs daily management with reference 

to these control procedures and pre-set guidelines and policies.

In addition, the Company’s focus on linking the global investment community with China means that the Company is 

exposed to risk in several international markets.

10.4 Operational Risk

Operational risks are an inherent aspect of the Group’s business. The Group faces the risk of loss from such events as 

the loss of key personnel, employee malpractice and the failure of internal controls. Operational risks can also rise from 

natural disasters, health hazards and security threats.

The Group operates in several markets and relies upon its employees and systems to execute transactions and provide 

advisory services. To mitigate the risk of relying upon its employees, the Group has adopted a system of internal 

controls, which include control procedures for clearing and settlement as well as cash controls through segregation 

of duties. The Group also has investment review procedures in place. In addition, the Group has established disaster 

recovery procedures in the event of system or technological failures or natural disasters.

10.5 Other Risks

Some of the risks in the “Other Risks” category include:

i) political, economic and social risks;

ii) legal risks; and

iii) reputational risks.

Since the Group operates in several jurisdictions, it also faces legal risks in these jurisdictions. To mitigate the legal 

risks, the Group has in-house legal counsel in both Hong Kong and Canada. Furthermore, the in-house legal counsel is 

provided with access to external legal counsel to assist in addressing legal matters.

The Group mitigates reputational risk by adhering to a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopting socially 

responsible investing and using both in-house and external investor relations programs.

For a detailed list of the risk factors that are relevant to the Group’s business and the industry in which it operates, 

see “Risk Factors” in the Company’s FY2011 Annual Information Form (“AIF”). Risks include, but are not necessarily 

limited to, those listed in the AIF. Investors should carefully consider the information about risks, together with the other 

information in this document, before making investment decisions. It should be noted that this list is not exhaustive, but 

contains risks that the Company considers to be of particular relevance. Other risk factors may apply.
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11. Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we make significant estimates and assumptions, mainly concerning 

values that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net income and related disclosures. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 

Changes to these estimates may result in changes to the Group’s results of operations and financial condition. We 

evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. Other than as disclosed in section 11.5 below, there are no new critical 

accounting estimates or assumptions compared to the information disclosed in the Group’s audited annual financial 

statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. The following is a discussion of some of the more significant 

judgments and estimates made by management.

11.1 Fair Value of Financial Assets/Liabilities

For financial assets/liabilities held for trading, the fair value is principally based on their quoted market prices at the 

balance sheet date. Judgment is required when determining whether the quoted market price can reflect the fair 

value of the financial assets. For unquoted derivatives, the fair value is significantly affected by the combination of the 

valuation methodologies employed, the parameters used and, if required, the underlying sample chosen. The valuation 

methodologies adopted by the Group is disclosed in note 28(f) to the audited consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended June 30, 2011. Equity securities, which are classified as available for sale, and for which quoted market 

prices are not available, are carried in the financial statements at cost.

11.2 Fair Value of Convertible Debentures

The Company has established a process to ensure the valuation techniques used to establish the fair value of the 

embedded derivatives in the convertible debentures are developed by qualified personnel and are validated and 

reviewed by personnel independent of the area that developed the valuation techniques. The determination of fair value 

was made after consideration of a number of inputs which require management estimates. Such inputs include credit 

and counterparty risk and risk correlations, volatility of share prices and dividend yield of the Company. Management 

estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and are adjusted if necessary. Should any of the estimates and 

assumptions change, the fair value of the embedded derivatives in convertible debentures may change.

11.3 Impairment Allowances on Loans and Receivables

The Group periodically reviews its loan portfolios to assess whether impairment allowances are required. In determining 

whether impairment allowances should be recorded in the consolidated statement of operations, the Group has 

individually evaluated each loan account for impairment after taking into account the value of each client account’s 

underlying collateral and the latest financial position of those borrowers in default of settlement.

11.4 Income Tax

The Group’s tax losses are mainly derived from Hong Kong subsidiaries engaged in proprietary trading activities and a 

Canadian-based subsidiary engaged in the provision of financial advisory services to clients in both Canada and the 

PRC. At each balance sheet date, after reviewing the performance of the Hong Kong, PRC and Canadian financial 

markets, management will estimate whether there will be any fair value gain on the investment portfolios and secured 

retainer contracts so as to assess whether there will be sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences 

available. Future income tax assets will be recognized if there is a high probability that future profits or taxable temporary 

differences are available. No future income tax assets will be recognized if the future profit streams are unpredictable.
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11.5 Monies Held in an Escrow Account

During the year, the Group has deposited an amount of HK$40 million, approximately equivalent to US$5.1 million 

(the “Escrow Funds”), into an escrow account maintained by an international law firm in Hong Kong pursuant to the 

terms of an escrow agreement dated March 28, 2011. The deposit was included in “accounts receivable and prepaid 

expenses” in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet as at June 30, 2011. As has been widely reported, a partner of 

the law firm has been arrested by the Hong Kong Police and charged with theft and forgery with respect to monies held 

in escrow account. The Group has been informed that the law firm has arranged for an external forensic examination 

to be conducted on its escrow account and no determination of the Group’s demand for return of the Escrow Funds 

will be made until the forensic examination is completed. The Group’s legal advisors have reviewed the documentary 

evidence in respect of the escrow agreement, have analyzed the legal duties and obligations of the law firm arising 

from the terms of the escrow agreement and have analyzed the legal and professional duties and obligations of the law 

firm arising from the receipt of the Escrow Funds (which were client monies and held in trust). In the event the Group’s 

demand for repayment of the Escrow Funds is denied, the Group’s legal advisors are of the opinion that the Group has 

good grounds to succeed in a potential legal claim against the law firm for the return of the Escrow Funds. Accordingly, 

the Group has not recognized any impairment loss as at June 30, 2011.

As of the balance sheet date, the management of the Group considered that the Escrow Funds will be recoverable in 

full from the law firm within the next twelve months. Should the Group have to take legal action to recover the Escrow 

Funds, the timing of recovering this amount may be longer than twelve months and the Group may not eventually 

recover the Escrow Funds in full if the law firm fails to honour the terms of the escrow agreement. The management of 

the Group currently consider such eventual outcome is not likely but continue to closely monitor the developments of 

this matter.

12. Financial and Other Instruments

The Group rarely uses derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes. Included in the Group’s financial assets 

and liabilities held for trading are investments in convertible notes, stock options and warrants, which are held for the 

purpose of short-term appreciation. They are recorded at fair values as detailed in note 28(f) to the audited consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2011.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk, foreign 

exchange risk and interest rate risk. The discussions of the risks exposures and the Group’s financial management 

policies and practices are detailed in note 28 to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 

30, 2011.

The Group has not entered into any financial guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment obligations of 

any third parties.
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13. Related Party Transactions

•	 In	April	2004,	the	Company	granted	a	HK$	loan	equivalent	to	approximately	US$565,000	to	a	director	of	the	

Company to subscribe for shares in the Company. Repayable on demand, the loan bears interest at 1% over 

the Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate and is secured by shares of the Company, which are pledged by the 

borrower. The outstanding balance represents the original loan balance and accumulated interest, as well as 

certain other miscellaneous advances to the director.

•	 In	April	2011,	a	loan	with	the	principal	amount	of	US$270,000	granted	by	a	subsidiary	of	the	Group	was	

drawdown by minority shareholders for the acquisition of the shares of another subsidiary of the Group. The loan 

is unsecured, repayable on demand and bears interest at 1% over the Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending rate. The 

outstanding balance represents the original loan balance and accumulated interests.

•	 Brokerage	commission	of	approximately	US$15,000	were	received	from	directors,	officers	and	their	associates	

in the ordinary course of business of dealing in securities, options, futures and commodities. Commission rates 

for these transactions are set at the same level as those normally offered to third party clients or the applicable 

staff rate if the clients are directors or officers of the Group.

•	 In	September	2008,	Sun	Wah	Capital	Limited	(“Sun	Wah”)	of	Hong	Kong,	subscribed	CAD4,500,000	of	the	

private placement offering of 9% unsecured convertible debentures (“Debentures Offering”), convertible into 

common shares of the Company (“Shares”). Sun Wah is controlled by Dr. Jonathan Koon Shum Choi (“Dr. 

Choi”), who is a director and controlling shareholder of the Company.

In December 2010, the Company amended the terms of the unsecured convertible debentures with the interest 

rate reduced from 9% to 1% per annum and the conversion price reduced from CAD0.80 to CAD0.55 per 

share.

As at June 30, 2011, Dr. Choi owns and controls, directly and indirectly, 61,697,310 or 66.8% of the issued 

and outstanding Shares. If the unsecured convertible debentures of the Company (“Debentures”) owned by 

Dr. Choi are fully converted into Shares, Dr. Choi has deemed beneficial ownership of an additional 8,181,818 

Shares. Together with the 2,166,650 stock options (after the cancellation of stock options on September 19, 

2011) granted by the Company to Dr. Choi in December 2010, Dr. Choi has ownership or control of a total of 

72,045,778, or 70.1% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion of the relevant debentures 

and the exercise of the stock options.

In addition, Ideal Performance Limited (“Ideal Performance”), subscribed for CAD1,500,000 of the Offering in 

September 2008. Ideal Performance is controlled by Mr. Michael Koon Ming Choi (“Mr. Choi”), who is one of the 

directors of the Company and is related to and acting jointly with Dr. Choi. If the Debentures are fully converted 

by Mr. Choi, Mr. Choi has deemed beneficial ownership of an additional 2,727,273 Shares. Together with 

the 2,166,650 stock options (after the cancellation of stock options on September 19, 2011) granted by the 

Company to Mr. Choi in December 2010, Mr. Choi has ownership or control of a total of 5,000,860, or 5.1% 

of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion of the relevant debentures and the exercise of the 

stock options.

If both the Debentures and the stock options held by Dr. Choi and Mr. Choi are fully converted and exercised, 

they will have up to 77,046,638, or 71.6% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion of the 

relevant debentures and the exercise of the stock options.
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•	 In	December	2010,	the	Company	granted	7,700,000	stock	options	at	a	strike	price	of	CAD0.55	per	share	to	

several directors and officers, as well as employees of the Group. 7,427,500 options were vested immediately 

with the remaining to be vested after 1 – 3 years. The options will expire on December 15, 2015. 5,000 

unvested options were forfeited during the year. On September 19, 2011, 2,000,050 stock options which were 

over-allotted to several directors of the Company were subsequently cancelled.

•	 The	Group	entered	into	an	office	lease	agreement	with	Famous	Joy	International	Limited,	a	company	related	to	a	

director, for leasing an office premise located in Hong Kong at a monthly expense of approximately US$12,000 

which expired in September 2010. The lease agreement was further extended to November 2010 and a total of 

approximately US$52,000 was recognized as an expense in the Group’s consolidated statement of operations 

during the year.

•	 The	Group	entered	into	an	office	lease	agreement	with	Crystallex	International	Corporation	(“Crystallex”),	a	

company related to a director, for sharing an office premise located in Canada at a monthly income paid by 

Crystallex of approximately US$10,000 expiring in November 2014.

•	 In	August	2009,	the	Group	entered	into	an	advisory	agreement	with	Crystallex	for	the	provision	of	advisory	

services in relation to the development of the Las Cristinas gold project in Bolivar State, Venezuela (“Las 

Cristinas project”). An advisory fee of US$175,000 was recognized during the year ended June 30, 2010 in 

relation to the agreement. In June 2010, the Group entered into another advisory agreement with Crystallex, 

replacing the original agreement entered into in August 2009. The advisory fee for the revised agreement is only 

payable upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. The revised agreement expired on December 31, 2010. During 

the year ended June 30, 2011, no advisory fee was recognized in relation to this agreement in the Group’s 

consolidated statement of operations.

Related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business.

14. Change of Company Name

•	 During	the	year,	the	name	of	the	Company	was	changed	from	“Kingsway	International	Holdings	Limited”	to	

“Sunwah International Limited”, reflecting the increased operational and financial support of the prominent Hong 

Kong based conglomerate, Sunwah Group.

•	 On	August	12,	2011,	SWK	announced	the	proposed	change	of	company	name	to	Sunwah	Kingsway	

Capital Holdings Limited. The change of company name was subsequently approved by the shareholders at 

SWK’s special general meeting held on September 12, 2011 and by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda 

on September 16, 2011. The board of directors of SWK considers that the new name better reflect the 

shareholding structure of SWK and allow SWK to take advantage of the recognition and goodwill associated 

with the “Sunwah” name.



45Sunwah International Limited  Annual Report 2011

ManageMent's DisCUssion & analYsis

15. Outstanding Share Data

As at June 30, 2011, there were 92,364,847 common shares issued and outstanding. The number of Deferred Share 

Unit (“DSU”) outstanding as at June 30, 2011 was 754,403. Each DSU entitles the holder subject to certain conditions 

to exchange it for one common share of the Company. In April 2011, 207,401 DSUs were exchanged for common 

shares of the Company.

In FY2007, stock options to subscribe for 2,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of CAD0.70 

per share were granted to an officer. Options to subscribe for 1,000,000 shares vested during 2007 will expire on 

November 20, 2011. The 1,500,000 unvested stock options were cancelled on January 1, 2009.

In FY2009, 1,500,000 stock options to subscribe for 1,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price 

of CAD0.80 per share were granted to the officer. The options were vested on January 1, 2009 and will expire on 

December 31, 2013.

In December 2010, 7,700,000 stock options to subscribe for 7,700,000 common shares of the Company at a strike 

price of CAD0.55 per share were granted by the Company to several directors, officers and employees of the Group. 

7,427,500 stock options were vested immediately with the remaining to be vested after 1-3 years. The options will 

expire on December 15, 2015. During the year, 5,000 of the unvested stock options were forfeited. On September 19, 

2011, 2,000,050 stock options which were over-allotted to the Company’s directors were subsequently cancelled.

In June 2011, the Company entered into an investor relations consulting agreement with an independent third party 

for the provision of investor relations consulting service to the Company. In connection with the agreement, 400,000 

stock options to subscribe for 400,000 common shares of the Company were granted to the service provider. 200,000 

stock options are exercisable at a price of CAD0.76 per share and 200,000 stock options are exercisable at CAD1.00 

per share. The initial tranche of 100,000 stock options was vested on June 1, 2011 and the remaining balance will be 

vested quarterly over a period of one year.

16. Future Prospects

The Company continues to believe in the strength and the growth of the Chinese economy. As China develops, it 

is creating its own substantial consumer market. This consumer market continues to be driven by the increase in 

urbanization of its population and the growth of its middle class. As a result, China is decreasing its dependence on 

foreign exports as a key driver of its economy. Exports while continuing in importance are gradually being replaced by 

domestic demand as a growth driver of the Chinese economy.

The Strategic Investment group established in FY2009 continues to focus on the natural resource sector, in particular 

mining and energy as the Company believes these sectors while important today, will be even more strategic in the 

future. The results to date have justified this focus and we will continue with this emphasis on the natural resources 

sector as long as we believe in the continued growth of the Chinese economy.

In FY2011 the Group established SIAM with the goal of developing a management team focused on private equity 

and capital markets fund management. We believe that the results of these efforts will pay off shortly through the 

establishment of a number of private equity funds focused on the energy and natural resource sector but with an 

Asian perspective. It is the intention of management of the Group through the establishment of the asset and fund 

management group to provide a more stable cash flow revenue model thereby enhancing shareholder value.
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We believe that the impact of our focus on the natural resource sector and the fee generation of the asset management 

platform will generate improved and stabilized cash flows in the upcoming fiscal year. We will seek to expand these 

initiatives as we move forward.

While we are experiencing a slowing of the rate of growth in China as the Chinese authorities attack the causes 

of inflation, we continue to believe in the overall strength and diversity of the Chinese economy and its continued 

growth. China remains the strongest major economy in the world today. The Chinese consumer class will continue to 

grow in number and in wealth; this growth will require access to capital, both domestic and foreign, over the years 

ahead resulting in strong market growth in sectors targeted by the Group. However, as markets become increasingly 

globalized, events affecting both the European and the United States capital markets will impact on the Asian markets. 

Additionally, as the Company increases its investment exposure outside of Hong Kong, albeit in natural resources 

needed by China, we will be increasingly exposed to both the negatives and the positives of the global market place.

17. Controls and Procedures

17.1 Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all material information related 

to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to senior management, including the Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be 

made regarding public disclosure.

During the year, the Company was required by the British Columbia Securities Commission to amend and refile the 

MD&A for its fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. The amendment was necessary because the MD&A originally filed 

omitted the comparative figures for FY2008 in the Selected Annual Financial Information table as required by form NI 

51-102F1. As a result of this omission, the management concluded that there could be a weakness in disclosure 

controls and procedures that should be addressed. In the opinion of management, the omitted information did not 

materially affect the overall financial position of the Company presented in the documents.

The Company has revised its standard procedures with respect to preparation of MD&A to ensure that individuals 

responsible for assembling information and preparing the MD&A check the text and content of the MD&A against a 

checklist of the form requirements.

The Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, do not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls 

and procedures will prevent all errors. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 

reasonable assurance that the control system objectives will be met. The likelihood of achievement is affected by 

limitations inherent in all internal control systems, including human error.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as 

defined in National Instrument 52-109, was conducted by and under the supervision of the Company’s management, 

including the CEO and CFO for FY2011. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s 

disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at June 30, 2011.
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17.2 Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management has designed and implemented internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 

accordance with GAAP.

The Company’s management has used the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (COSO Framework) published by 

The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) to evaluate the effectiveness of 

the Company’s internal control over financial reporting for the year ended June 30, 2011. Based on that assessment, 

the CEO and CFO concluded that as at June 30, 2011, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was 

effective.

There have been no change in the design of the internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended June 

30, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Group’s internal control over 

financial reporting.

The Group’s internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements because of inherent 

limitations. Additionally projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with 

the Group’s policies and procedures.

18. Future Accounting Changes

18.1  Business Combinations

In January 2009, The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) issued CICA Handbook Section 1582, 

Business Combinations, Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements, and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests, 

which superseded Section 1581, Business Combinations, and Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements.

CICA Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations, which replaces the former Section 1581, establishes 

standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian equivalent to International Financial 

Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 3, Business Combinations, (January 2008). This Section applies prospectively to business 

combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on 

or after January 1, 2011.

CICA Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements, together with the new Section 1602, Non-

Controlling Interests, replaces the former Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 1601 establishes 

standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Section 1602 establishes standards for accounting 

for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination. 

It is equivalent to the corresponding provisions of IFRS International Accounting Standard 27, Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements, (January 2008). Both sections apply to interim and annual consolidated financial 

statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

Earlier adoption is permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year. All three sections must be adopted concurrently. The 

Company has determined that there will be no early adoption of these sections for the Group.
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18.2 Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards and its Impacts on Financial Statements

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board confirmed the changeover date for the convergence of Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles with IFRS in 2011. The adoption of IFRS is effective for companies with 

fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Group will first-time adopt the IFRS in its consolidated financial 

statements for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2011.

A discussion of the key standards under IFRS that management believes will have significant impact to the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements is as follows. For the following discussion purpose, the date of transition to IFRSs is 

referred to as the “Transition Date”, which is July 1, 2010.

•	 IFRS	1:	First-time	Adoption	of	IFRS

IFRS 1 provides the framework for the first-time adoption of IFRS and specifies that, in general, an entity 

shall apply the principles under IFRS retrospectively. IFRS 1 also specifies that the adjustments that arise on 

retrospective conversion to IFRS from Canadian GAAP should be directly recognized in retained earnings. 

Certain mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions for retrospective application are provided under IFRS 

1. The Company has elected to apply several optional exemptions in the preparation of the Group’s opening 

consolidated statement of financial position as at the Transition Date with details as follow:

– Business Combinations

IFRS 1 allows an entity to apply IFRS 3, the business combinations standard either retrospectively or 

prospectively from the Transition Date (or to restate all business combinations after a designated date 

before the Transition Date).

The Company elected to adopt IFRS 3 prospectively and only business combinations that occur on or 

after July 1, 2010, the Transition Date, will be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3.

– Cumulative Foreign Currency Translation Differences

IFRS 1 allows an entity to elect to deem the cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations to 

be zero at the Transition Date. The gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation must 

exclude translation differences that arose before the Transition Date and must include later translation 

differences.

The Company elected to apply this exemption to deem all foreign currency translation differences in 

respect of all foreign operations that arose prior to the Transition Date as zero and absorbed the balance 

into the retained earnings.

– Stock Based Payment Transactions

IFRS 1 provides exemption to apply IFRS 2 for equity instruments granted (i) on or before November 7, 

2002; and (ii) after November 7, 2002 and vested before the Transition Date.

The Company elected not to apply IFRS 2 retrospectively for its stock-based compensation payments 

that have vested before the Transition Date.

•	 IAS	16:	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment

IFRS allows property, plant and equipment be measured using either the cost model or the revaluation model. 

Revaluation model is prohibited under Canadian GAAP. The Company will not adopt the fair value model for 

property and will continue to account for its property, plant and equipment under the cost model.
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•	 IAS	27:	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements

Under IAS 27, changes in parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as capital transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests shall 

be adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount 

by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received, shall 

be recognized directly in equity.

Under Canadian GAAP, if the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary increases, the increase is accounted 

for as an incremental acquisition of the underlying assets of the subsidiary. If the Company’s ownership interest 

in the subsidiary decreases and the Company still retains control, the impact is reflected as a dilution gain or 

loss in the statement of operations.

Upon the transition to IFRS, the Group’s income for the year will be decreased by US$2.6 million in relation to 

the gain on deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary recorded in the Group’s statement of operation in the year 

ended June 30, 2011.

Besides, under Canadian GAAP, non-controlling interests is presented outside of equity in the consolidated 

statement of financial position. Under IFRS, non-controlling interests is presented within equity, separately 

disclosed from the equity of the owners of the parent.

•	 IAS	36:	Impairment	of	Assets

Under IAS 36, impairment loss is recognized if an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, which is based on the net 

present value of future cash flows. Under Canadian GAAP, an asset is first assessed as to whether impairment 

exists based on whether the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows of the asset. 

If impairment exists, then the impairment loss is measured based on the excess of carrying amount over the fair 

value of the asset.

Furthermore, under IAS 36, when the impairment has been reduced, previous impairment losses may be 

reversed up to the depreciated amount of the asset had the impairment not occurred. Under Canadian GAAP, 

reversal of previously recognized impairment losses is prohibited.

•	 IFRS	2:	Share-based	Payments

Under Canadian GAAP, an entity may elect to recognize share-based payments based on the pooling method 

or the graded vesting method. For the pooling method, the total expense is amortized on a straight-line basis 

over the longest vesting period of all of the options in the pool, resulting in equal charges to the statement of 

operations over the period. The graded vesting method treats each vesting tranche as separate arrangement 

with the expense associated with that particular vesting tranche amortizes over the period of that vesting tranche 

on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS, only graded vesting method is allowed.

In addition, share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the more reliably measurable amount 

of either the fair value of the goods or services received, or the fair value of the award under Canadian GAAP. 

Under IFRS, the fair value of the equity instruments granted is used only when the fair value of the goods or 

services cannot be reliably measured.

Management considers that there was no significant impact on the share-based payments expenses charged to 

the Group’s consolidated statement of operations upon the transition to IFRS.
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19. Forward-Lookings Statements

This document contains “forward-looking statements” as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws. These 

statements include, but are not limited to, statements made in the Business Overview, Market Environment and General 

Impact on the Group and Future Prospects sections and other statements concerning our 2011 objectives, our 

strategies to achieve those objectives, as well as statements with respect to management’s beliefs, plans, estimates, 

and intentions, and similar statements concerning anticipated future events, results, circumstances, performance or 

expectations that are not historical facts. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-

looking terminology such as “outlook”, “objective”, “may”, “will”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, 

“should”, “plan” or “continue”, or similar expressions suggesting future outcomes or events. Such forward-looking 

statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management.

These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, 

including those described in this document. The Group’s primary business activities are both competitive and subject 

to various risks. These risks include market, credit, liquidity, operational and legal and regulatory risks and other risk 

factors including, without limitation, variations in the market value of securities, the volatility and liquidity of equity trading 

markets, the volume of new financings and mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”), competition in the marketplace for 

suitable investments, sustainability of fees, nature and type of portfolio company investments and dependence on key 

personnel. Other factors, such as general economic conditions, including interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations, 

may also have an effect on the Group’s results of operations. Many of these risks and uncertainties can affect our 

actual results and could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-

looking statement made by us or on our behalf. For a description of additional risks that could cause our actual results 

to materially differ from our current expectations, please see the “Discussion of Risks and Uncertainties” section in 

this MD&A. Material assumptions or factors underlying the forward-looking statements contained in this document are 

set out in the “Market Environment and General Impact on the Group” section in this MD&A. Although forward-looking 

information contained in this MD&A is based upon what management believes are reasonable assumptions, there 

can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Certain statements 

included in this MD&A may be considered a “financial outlook” for purposes of applicable Canadian securities 

laws, and as such the financial outlook may not be appropriate for purposes other than this MD&A. The forward-

looking statements contained in this MD&A are made as of the date of this MD&A, and should not be relied upon as 

representing the Group’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of this MD&A.

Except as required by applicable law, management and the board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) 

undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 

information, future events or otherwise.

20. Additional Information

Additional information relating to the Company including the Company’s Annual Information Form may be obtained from 

SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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The consolidated financial statements of Sunwah International Limited (formerly known as Kingsway International 

Holdings Limited) have been prepared by Management of the Company in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles.

Management maintains a system of internal accounting controls to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s 

assets are safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely financial information. The 

Company’s overall controls include an organizational structure providing for effective segregation of responsibilities, 

delegation of authority and personal accountability, written communication of policies and procedures of corporate 

conduct throughout the Company and careful selection and training of personnel; the regular updating and application 

of written accounting and administrative policies and procedures necessary to ensure adequate internal control over 

transactions, assets and records.

The consolidated financial statements necessarily include amounts based on informed judgements and estimates of the 

expected effects of current events and transactions with appropriate consideration to materiality. The Board of Directors 

oversees Management’s responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements through the Audit Committee, which is 

composed solely of directors who are not officers or employees of the Company. The Audit Committee meets four times 

per year at a minimum. Each year it reviews the adequacy of internal controls and discusses with the Shareholders’ 

auditors the overall scope, timing and specific plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee reviews 

with Management and the Shareholders’ auditors the content and format of the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements. As part of this process it reviews the adoption of and changes in accounting principles and practices 

that have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and key management estimates and 

judgements material to those statements. The Audit Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval by 

Sunwah International Limited, the engagement or re-appointment of the Shareholders’ auditors.

The Board has approved the consolidated financial statements. External auditors appointed by the Shareholders have 

examined the consolidated financial statements and their report follows. All other financial and operating data included in 

the annual report are consistent, where appropriate, with information contained in the consolidated financial statements.

Douglas C. Betts Eric K. K. Chan

Chief	Executive	Officer Chief	Financial	Officer

September 22, 2011
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aUDitors’ report

To the Shareholders of

Sunwah International Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sunwah International Limited (the 

“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated 

statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and accumulated other 

comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 

we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at June 30, 2011 and 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

September 22, 2011
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ConsoliDateD BalanCe sHeets
As at June 30, 2011 and 2010

Note 2011 2010
US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 34,779 33,276
Financial assets held for trading 8 33,761 44,853
Available for sale financial asset 11 3,551 –
Due from related parties 9 1,005 695
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 10 40,007 45,824

113,103 124,648

AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 11 7,222 3,792
INVESTMENTS SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE 11 4,899 3,989
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 12 1,467 1,270
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13 678 665
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14 2,108 2,274

16,374 11,990

129,477 136,638

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank loans – short-term portion, secured 15 – 97
Obligations under capital leases – short-term portion 16 6 81
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17 26,161 48,897
Financial derivative liabilities 18 4,235 239
Income taxes payable 288 215
Due to related parties 9 233 233

30,923 49,762

FUTURE TAX LIABILITY 24 32 39
CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 18 4,429 6,588
BANK LOANS – LONG-TERM PORTION, SECURED 15 – 420
OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES – LONG-TERM 
 PORTION 16 – 6
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 20 30,197 18,008

34,658 25,061

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock 21 6,523 6,442
Contributed surplus and share premium 22 54,451 51,850
Retained earnings 1,437 2,367
Accumulated other comprehensive income 23 1,483 1,156
Warrants reserve 2 –

63,896 61,815

129,477 136,638

COMMITMENTS 27
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 33

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board of Directors on September 22, 2011

Douglas C. Betts Michael K. M. Choi

Director Director
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ConsoliDateD stateMents of operations
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Note 2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Revenue from services and other income 16,270 12,350

Trading income 11,214 7,306

TOTAL REVENUE 27,484 19,656

Selling and administrative expenses (23,897) (18,313)

Amortization of property and equipment (337) (379)

Net loss on financial derivative liabilities and convertible 

 debentures 18 (2,083) (231)

Gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets – 43

Gain on deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary 19 2,622 –

Impairment charges on goodwill 13 – (425)

Loss on disposal of property and equipment (1) (24)

Interest expense (948) (1,022)

Share of loss of investments subject to significant influence (364) (22)

INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES,

 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND

 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 5 2,476 (717)

Income tax charge 24 (87) (17)

INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE NON-CONTROLLING

 INTERESTS AND DISCONTINUED

 OPERATIONS 2,389 (734)

Non-controlling interests (1,498) (599)

INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 891 (1,333)

Net loss from discontinued operations 25 – (210)

Net gain on disposal of shares of jointly controlled

 entities classified as discontinued operations 25 – 5,683

INCOME FOR THE YEAR 891 4,140

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 26 US$ US$

Basic

Before discontinued operations 0.0098 (0.0161)

Discontinued operations – 0.0661

Net 0.0098 0.0500

Diluted

Before discontinued operations 0.0096 (0.0161)

Discontinued operations – 0.0656

Net 0.0096 0.0495

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ConsoliDateD stateMents of CoMpreHensiVe inCoMe
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Income for the year 891 4,140

Other comprehensive income:

 Foreign currency translation adjustment 4 577

 Fair value changes on available for sale financial assets 292 –

 Release of reserves upon deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary 31 –

327 577

Comprehensive income for the year 1,218 4,717

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ConsoliDateD stateMents of CHanges in sHareHolDers’ eQUitY
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Note 2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Capital stock 21

 Balance, beginning of the year 6,442 6,042

 Issue of shares through exercising of stock options 8 –

 Issue of shares from conversion of convertible debentures 73 –

 Shares issued for cash – 400

 Balance, end of the year 6,523 6,442

Contributed surplus and share premium 22

 Balance, beginning of the year 51,850 48,909

 Stock based compensation charged 2,152 165

 Issue of shares through exercising of stock options (8) –

 Issue of shares from conversion of convertible debentures 961 –

 Premium on shares issued for cash – 4,293

 Release of reserves upon deemed partial disposal of 

  a subsidiary (521) –

 Dividends 6 – (1,529)

 Dividends paid on stock based compensation 17 12

 Balance, end of the year 54,451 51,850

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)

 Balance, beginning of the year 2,367 (1,773)

 Income for the year 891 4,140

 Dividends 6 (1,821) –

 Balance, end of the year 1,437 2,367

Accumulated other comprehensive income 23

 Balance, beginning of the year 1,156 579

 Other comprehensive income for the year:

  Foreign currency translation adjustment 4 577

  Fair value changes on available for sale financial assets 292 –

  Release of reserves upon deemed partial disposal of 

   a subsidiary 31 –

 Balance, end of the year 1,483 1,156

Warrants reserve

 Balance, beginning of the year – –

 Warrants issued by a subsidiary 2 –

 Balance, end of the year 2 –

Total shareholders’ equity at end of the year 63,896 61,815

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ConsoliDateD stateMents of CasH floWs
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Note 2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Adjusted loss from operations 32(a) (5,970) (5,229)

Net sale/(purchase) of financial assets/liabilities held for trading 22,679 (7,439)

Income taxes paid (21) (335)

Changes in operating working capital 32(b) (17,141) 10,763

(453) (2,240)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net capital advance from/(repaid to) non-controlling interests 270 (135)

Dividends paid by a subsidiary to non-controlling interests (1,288) (1,104)

Dividends paid (1,805) (1,529)

Repayment of bank loans, unsecured (13,226) (9,936)

Drawdown of bank loan, unsecured 13,226 –

Repayment of bank loans, secured (7,568) (52,723)

Drawdown of bank loan, secured 7,051 49,103

Repurchase of convertible debentures (484) –

Repayment of obligations under capital leases (81) (73)

Payment of convertible debentures interests (368) (635)

Proceed from issuance of common shares – 4,693

Issuance of common shares and warrants in a subsidiary to 

 non-controlling interests 13,568 –

9,295 (12,339)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment 32(c) (167) (180)

Purchase of available for sale financial assets (6,609) (3,792)

Purchase of an investment subject to significant influence (1,270) –

Acquisition of shares in a subsidiary (50) (542)

Dividend received from an available for sale financial asset 186 –

Proceeds from disposal of available for sale financial assets – 156

Return of capital from an investment subject to 

 significant influence – 29

Proceeds from disposal of shares of jointly controlled entities 

 classified as discontinued operations – 24,779

(7,910) 20,450

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS – (2)

Effect of foreign currency changes 571 585

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,503 6,454

Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of the year 33,276 26,822

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of the year 34,779 33,276

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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notes to ConsoliDateD finanCial stateMents
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

1 Change of Company Name

At the Annual General Meeting held on December 15, 2010, a resolution was passed for approving the change 

of name of Kingsway International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) to “Sunwah International Limited”. The 

change of name of the Company was approved by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda on December 16, 

2010.

2 Organization and Nature of Business

Sunwah International Limited, an investment holding company incorporated in Bermuda, is listed on the main 

board of the Toronto Stock Exchange with symbol “SWH”. A substantial part of the operation of the Company 

and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) is conducted through a subsidiary, Sunwah Kingsway 

Capital Holdings Limited, formerly known as “SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited” (“SWK”), which is based in 

Hong Kong and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. SWK and its subsidiaries’ main activities 

include investment in securities, structured investment, brokerage, corporate finance & capital markets and 

asset management.

3 Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles as prescribed by the The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”). 

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 include all 

subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Investments in companies in which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence are 

accounted for on the equity method basis.

The principal investments subject to significant influence and subsidiaries as at June 30, 2011 and 2010 

are listed in Notes 11(d) and 30, respectively.

(b) Use of Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we make significant estimates and assumptions, 

mainly concerning values that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net income and related 

disclosures. The most significant assets and liabilities where we make estimates include measurement 

of recoverability of loans, determining fair value of financial assets held for trading when no prices or 

quotes are available, the provision for financial assets held for trading, the carrying value of investments, 

the fair value of the liability component of the convertible debentures at initial recognition, the fair value 

of the financial derivative liabilities components of the convertible debentures, income tax assets and 

liabilities, goodwill and other intangible assets. If actual results differ from the estimates, the impact will 

be recorded in future periods.
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notes to ConsoliDateD finanCial stateMents
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(c) Financial Instruments

All financial assets and liabilities are classified as either held for trading, available for sale, loans and 

receivables or other liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities are carried at fair value, except those 

classified as loans and receivables or other liabilities, which are carried at amortized cost.

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market prices at the balance sheet date 

without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. If a quoted market price is not available from 

an active market, the fair value is estimated using valuation techniques that provide a reliable estimate 

of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions. Equity securities, which are classified 

as available for sale, and for which quoted market prices are not available, are carried in the financial 

statements at cost. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset 

or issue of the financial liability are added to the carrying amount when such financial assets or financial 

liabilities are not classified as held for trading. Transaction costs on financial assets or financial liabilities 

held for trading are expensed immediately. Purchases and sales of financial instruments are accounted 

for on a trade-date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading are acquired or incurred principally for the purpose 

of trading, or are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and 

for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking. Financial assets and 

financial liabilities are designated as held for trading upon initial recognition when the assets or liabilities 

are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis. Upon disposal or repurchase, the 

difference between the net sale proceeds or the net payment and the carrying value and changes in the 

fair value are included in the trading income/(loss) in the consolidated statement of operations. The net 

gain or loss recognized in the consolidated statement of operations excludes any dividend or interest 

earned on the financial assets. The Company has designated investments and financial liabilities as 

denoted on the consolidated balance sheet.

Available for sale financial assets are those financial assets that are designated as available for sale, 

or that are not classified as loans and receivables or held for trading. Financial instruments included in 

this category comprise debt and equity securities, including investments over which the Group has no 

significant influence. Available for sale financial assets are carried at fair value whereby the unrealized 

gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income until sale or other-than-

temporary impairment when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the consolidated statement of 

operations. Equities classified as available for sale that do not have quoted market values in an active 

market are carried at cost. Realized gains and losses on sale, determined on an average cost basis, and 

write-downs to reflect other-than-temporary impairments in value are included in investment income in 

the consolidated statement of operations.

Loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost. Accounts receivable and related party 

balances have been classified as loans and receivables by the Company.

Other liabilities are recorded at amortized cost and include all liabilities, other than liabilities designated 

as held for trading, which are carried at fair value.
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notes to ConsoliDateD finanCial stateMents
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(c) Financial Instruments (Con’d)

Convertible debentures issued by the Company that contain a liability component, conversion option 

derivative component and redemption option derivative component are classified separately into 

their respective items on initial recognition. A conversion option that will be settled other than by the 

exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own 

equity instruments is a conversion option derivative. At the date of issue, the liability, conversion option 

derivative and redemption option derivative components are recognized at fair value. In subsequent 

periods, the liability component of the convertible debentures is carried at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. The conversion option derivative and the redemption option derivative are 

measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.

(d) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets which include property and equipment and intangible assets, are tested for 

recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not 

be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amounts exceed their fair values.

(e) Loan Impairments

When a loan becomes impaired as a result of deterioration in credit quality and the Group no longer has 

reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest, the carrying amount 

of the loan is reduced to estimated net realizable value.

(f) Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of net assets of any business 

acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between 

annual tests in certain circumstances, and written down when impaired.

Goodwill impairment is tested using a two-step approach. The first step compares the fair value of the 

net assets to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value is greater than its carrying amount, 

goodwill is not considered impaired and the second step is not required. If the fair value is less than 

its carrying amount, the second step of the impairment test measures the amount of the impairment 

loss, if any, by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount 

of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess. The 

implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same manner that goodwill is calculated in a business 

combination, whereby the fair value is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities, with the excess 

purchase price over the amounts assigned to assets and liabilities. Estimating fair value is performed by 

utilizing various valuation techniques, with the primary technique being a discounted cash flow.

Trading rights are considered to have an indefinite useful life and are stated at costs less impairment 

losses. The carrying value of trading rights is reviewed annually. When the net carrying amount of an item 

exceeds its net recoverable amount, an impairment loss will be charged to the statement of operations.
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notes to ConsoliDateD finanCial stateMents
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(g) Property and Equipment

Property is stated at the lower of cost less accumulated amortization and the net recoverable amount. 

The carrying value of the properties are reviewed on a regular basis. When the net carrying amount of a 

property exceeds its net recoverable amount, an impairment loss is charged to statement of operations. 

The properties are situated on leasehold land in Beijing and Shenzhen, PRC, and are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the unexpired lease term.

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortization. The carrying value of equipment is reviewed 

on a regular basis. When the net carrying amount of an item exceeds its net recoverable amount, an 

impairment loss is charged to statement of operations. Amortization is calculated on the straight-line 

basis at the following annual rates:

Properties : shorter of 50 years or over the unexpired lease term

Leasehold improvements : shorter of 5 years or over the unexpired lease term

Furniture and fixtures : 20%

Office equipment and motor vehicles : 20%

(h) Leased Assets

Leases are classified as either capital or operating. Assets that are held by the Group under leases 

which transfer to the Group substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are accounted for as 

assets acquired under capital leases. The capitalized lease obligations are included in obligations under 

capital leases and reflect the present value of future lease payments, discounted at an appropriate 

interest rate. Leases that are not classified as capital leases are accounted for as operating leases with 

payments included in operating expenses in the year incurred.

(i) Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities are translated into the reporting currency at the rate of exchange in effect at the 

balance sheet date. Revenue and expense items are translated at the average rate during the period. 

Translation gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income until there has 

been a realized reduction in the underlying investment.

The measurement currency and the reporting currency of the Company is USD. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in currencies other than the USD are translated into USD at the rates of exchange 

ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactions in currencies other than USD during the period are 

converted into USD at the applicable rates of exchange prevailing on the day the transaction occurred. 

Transaction gains and losses are recognized in the statement of operations. Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities are re-measured into USD at historical exchange rates.

The financial records of the Company’s operating subsidiaries in Hong Kong are maintained in their local 

currency Hong Kong dollars, which is their measurement currency. Assets and liabilities are translated 

at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date, equity accounts are translated at historical exchange 

rates and revenues, expenses, gains and losses are translated using the average rate for the period. 

Translation adjustments are reported as cumulative translation adjustments and are shown as a separate 

component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the statement of shareholders’ equity and 

accumulated other comprehensive income.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(j) Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income is the change in shareholders’ equity, which results from transactions 

and other events and circumstances from non-shareholder sources. These transactions and events 

include unrealized gains and losses resulting from foreign currency translation of self-sustaining foreign 

subsidiaries and fair value gains and losses on available for sale financial assets.

(k) Revenue Recognition

Brokerage and commission income is recognized on a trade date basis. Underwriting and sub-

underwriting commission is recognized once the corresponding underwriting exposure has ceased. 

Corporate financial advisory, asset management, loan arrangement, secretarial and other service fees 

are recognized when the services are performed. Transactions in securities and related revenues are 

recorded on a trade date basis. Revenue from other operations is recognized when the risk and rewards 

of ownership of securities have been transferred or services have been rendered.

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal amounts 

outstanding and the interest rates applicable, except for impaired receivables where interest income is 

recognized on a cash basis.

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

Payments received under operating leases net of any incentives paid to the lessee are recognised as 

rental income on a straight-line basis.

(l) Income Taxes

The Group follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Current income 

taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable for the current period. Future income tax 

assets and liabilities are recognized in the current period for temporary differences between the tax and 

accounting basis of assets and liabilities as well as for the benefit of income tax losses available to be 

carried forward to future years for tax purposes. Future tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 

in the opinion of Management, it is more likely than not that the future income tax assets will be realized. 

Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws 

expected to apply in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 

settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on future income tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the 

period that includes the substantive enactment date.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(m) Stock Based Compensation

All stock based compensation arrangements are accounted for using the fair value based method with 

compensation expense recognized in the statement of operations over the awards vesting period.

Under the Group’s stock option plans, the fair value of options is charged as compensation expense 

to the statements of operations over the option vesting period. The fair value of the option granted is 

determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with management’s best estimates (Note 21).

Under the Company’s Deferred Shares Unit (“DSU”) plan, on the date directors’ fees are payable, 

the number of DSUs to be awarded to a participant is determined by dividing the amount of the fees 

payable by way of DSUs by the market value of a common share on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The 

amount of directors’ fees payable, which represents the fair value of the DSUs awarded, is charged as 

compensation expense to the statements of operations in the period of grant (Note 21).

(n) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits at call, and short-term deposits with 

banks with maturity dates of less than three months from the date they are acquired. Clients’ trust 

accounts are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements (Note 7).

(o) Earnings/(Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated on net income/(loss) using the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding during the year. Fully diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated on the weighted 

average number of shares including an adjustment for stock options outstanding using the treasury stock 

method. Under the treasury stock method, the number of encumbered shares is determined as follows:

– the exercise of options is assumed to be at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, 

if later);

– the proceeds from the exercise of “in the money” dilutive options are assumed to be used to 

purchase shares at the average market price during the period.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(p) Employee Benefits

(i)	 Employee	leave	entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. An 

accrual is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the time of 

leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The expected costs of bonus payments are recognized as a liability when the Group has a 

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a 

reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus payments are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at 

the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

(iii) Pension obligations

The Group has operated a defined-contribution pension scheme (“MPF Scheme”) since 

December 1, 2000 under rules and regulations of the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund 

(“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of 

the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group has chosen to follow the minimum 

statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income which 

is further subject to the relevant monthly income cap of HK$20,000 imposed by MPF Scheme 

Ordinance. Additional contribution may be made by the Group if certain conditions are met. The 

Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are expensed as the employees have rendered their 

service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by contributions forfeited, if applicable, 

by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

(q) Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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4 Future Accounting Changes

(a) Business Combinations

In January 2009, the CICA issued CICA Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations, Section 1601, 

Consolidated Financial Statements, and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests, which superseded 

Section 1581, Business Combinations, and Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements.

CICA Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations, which replaces the former Section 1581, 

establishes standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian equivalent 

to International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 3, Business Combinations, (January 2008). This 

Section applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 

beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

CICA Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements, together with the new Section 1602, 

Non-Controlling Interests, replaces the former Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 

1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Section 1602 

establishes standards for accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial 

statements subsequent to a business combination. It is equivalent to the corresponding provisions of 

IFRS International Accounting Standard 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, (January 

2008). Both sections apply to interim and annual consolidated financial statements relating to fiscal years 

beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

Earlier adoption is permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year. All three sections must be adopted 

concurrently. The Company determines that there will be no early adoption of these sections for the 

Group.

(b) Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board confirmed the changeover date for the convergence 

of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles with IFRS in 2011. The adoption of IFRS is 

effective for companies with fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Group will first-time 

adopt the IFRS in its interim and annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year beginning on 

July 1, 2011.
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5 Income/(Loss) Before Income Taxes, Non-Controlling Interests and Discontinued Operations 
(Supplementary Information)

The following amounts are included in income/(loss) before income taxes, non-controlling interests and 

discontinued operations.

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

REVENUE INCLUDES:

 Commission and fee income 12,008 11,269

 Dividend income from listed investments 868 441

 Interest income 905 548

 Reversal of impairment losses of receivables 288 –

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES INCLUDE:

 Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (6) 635

 Operating rental expenses 1,579 1,651

 Pension expenses 184 174

6 Dividends

(a) Dividend Paid During the Year

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Final dividend of 2010 of CAD0.020 per common share, 

 equivalent to US$0.020 per common share paid 

 from retained earnings

 (2010: final dividend of 2009 of CAD0.020 per 

 common share, equivalent to US$0.019 per 

 common share paid from contributed surplus) 1,821 1,529

(b) Final Dividend

The Board proposed a final dividend of Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 0.010 per common share (2010: 

CAD0.020 per common share, equivalent to US$0.020 per common share) that will be paid on or about 

December 19, 2011 from the retained earnings. The final dividend of 2010 was paid from the retained 

earnings. The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognized as a liability 

at the balance sheet date.
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7 Clients’ Trust Accounts

The Group maintains segregated clients’ trust accounts with licensed banks to hold clients’ monies arising 

from normal business transactions in connection with the Group’s brokerage activities. As at June 30, 2011, 

segregated clients’ trust accounts not included in these consolidated financial statements amounted to US$57.1 

million (2010: US$47.9 million).

8 Financial Assets Held for Trading

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

– Listed shares in Hong Kong 22,033 40,470

– Listed shares outside Hong Kong 6,272 3,612

– Listed debt securities in Hong Kong 993 –

– Listed debt securities outside Hong Kong 3,182 –

– Unlisted derivatives 1,281 771

33,761 44,853

9 Related Party Transactions and Balances

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Due from a director (Note (a)) 731 695

Due from other parties (Note (b)) 274 –

1,005 695

Due to affiliated companies and other parties (Note (c)) 233 233

(a) In April 2004, the Company granted a HK$ loan equivalent to approximately US$565,000 to a director of 

the Company to subscribe for shares in the Company. Repayable on demand, the loan bears interest at 

1% over the Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate and is secured by shares of the Company, which are 

pledged by the borrower. The outstanding balance represents the original loan balance and accumulated 

interest, as well as certain other miscellaneous advances to the director.

(b) In April 2011, a loan with the principal amount of US$270,000 granted by a subsidiary of the Group was 

drawdown by minority shareholders for the acquisition of the shares of another subsidiary of the Group. 

The loan is unsecured, repayable on demand and bears interest at 1% over the Hong Kong Dollar Best 

Lending rate. The outstanding balance represents the original loan balance and accumulated interests.

(c) The balances due to affiliated companies and other related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing 

and have no fixed repayment terms. Affiliated companies and other related parties include shareholders 

of non-controlling interests of the Group’s subsidiaries.
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9 Related Party Transactions and Balances (Cont’d)

(d) Brokerage commission of approximately US$15,000 (2010: approximately US$13,000) were received 

from directors, officers and their associates in the ordinary course of business of dealing in securities, 

options, futures and commodities. Commission rates for these transactions are set at the same level 

as those normally offered to third party clients or the applicable staff rate if the clients are directors or 

officers of the Group.

(e) In September 2008, Sun Wah Capital Limited (“Sun Wah”) of Hong Kong, subscribed CAD4,500,000 

of the private placement offering of 9% unsecured convertible debentures (“Debentures Offering”), 

convertible into common shares of the Company (“Shares”). Sun Wah is controlled by Dr. Jonathan Koon 

Shum Choi (“Dr. Choi”), who is a director and controlling shareholder of the Company.

In December 2010, the Company amended the terms of the unsecured convertible debentures with the 

interest rate reduced from 9% to 1% per annum and the conversion price reduced from CAD0.80 to 

CAD0.55 per share. (note 18)

As at June 30, 2011, Dr. Choi owns and controls, directly and indirectly, 61,697,310 or 66.8% of the 

issued and outstanding Shares. If the unsecured convertible debentures of the Company (“Debentures”) 

owned by Dr. Choi are fully converted into Shares, Dr. Choi has deemed beneficial ownership of an 

additional 8,181,818 Shares. Together with the 2,166,650 stock options (after the cancellation of stock 

options on September 19, 2011) granted by the Company to Dr. Choi in December 2010, Dr. Choi has 

ownership or control of a total of 72,045,778, or 70.1% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the 

conversion of the relevant debentures and the exercise of the stock options.

In addition, Ideal Performance Limited (“Ideal Performance”), subscribed for CAD1,500,000 of the 

Offering in September 2008. Ideal Performance is controlled by Mr. Michael Koon Ming Choi (“Mr. Choi”), 

who is one of the directors of the Company and is related to and acting jointly with Dr. Choi. If the 

Debentures are fully converted by Mr. Choi, Mr. Choi has deemed beneficial ownership of an additional 

2,727,273 Shares. Together with the 2,166,650 stock options (after the cancellation of stock options on 

September 19, 2011) granted by the Company to Mr. Choi in December 2010, Mr. Choi has ownership 

or control of a total of 5,000,860, or 5.1% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the conversion 

of the relevant debentures and the exercise of the stock options.

If both the Debentures and the stock options held by Dr. Choi and Mr. Choi are fully converted and 

exercised, they will have up to 77,046,638, or 71.6% of the enlarged shares of the Company after the 

conversion of the relevant debentures and the exercise of the stock options.

(f) In December 2010, the Company granted 7,700,000 stock options at a strike price of CAD0.55 

per share to several directors and officers, as well as employees of the Group. 7,427,500 options 

were vested immediately with the remaining to be vested after 1 – 3 years. The options will expire on 

December 15, 2015 (note 21(e)). 5,000 unvested options were forfeited during the year. On September 

19, 2011, 2,000,050 stock options which were over-allotted to several directors of the Company were 

subsequently cancelled.
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9 Related Party Transactions and Balances (Cont’d)

(g) The Group entered into an office lease agreement with Famous Joy International Limited, a company 

related to a director, for leasing an office premise located in Hong Kong at a monthly expense of 

approximately US$12,000 which expired in September 2010. The lease agreement was further extended 

to November 2010 and a total of approximately US$52,000 was recognized as an expense in the 

Group’s consolidated statement of operations during the year.

(h) The Group entered into an office lease agreement with Crystallex International Corporation (“Crystallex”), 

a company related to a director, for sharing an office premise located in Canada at a monthly income 

paid by Crystallex of approximately US$10,000 expiring in November 2014.

(i) In August 2009, the Group entered into an advisory agreement with Crystallex for the provision of 

advisory services in relation to the development of the Las Cristinas gold project in Bolivar State, 

Venezuela (“Las Cristinas project”). An advisory fee of US$175,000 was recognized during the year 

ended June 30, 2010 in relation to the agreement. In June 2010, the Group entered into another 

advisory agreement with Crystallex, replacing the original agreement entered into in August 2009. The 

advisory fee for the revised agreement is only payable upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. The 

revised agreement expired on December 31, 2010. During the year ended June 30, 2011, no advisory 

fee was recognized in relation to this agreement in the Group’s consolidated statement of operations.

Related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business.

10 Accounts Receivable and Prepaid Expenses

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Amounts due from brokers and clearing houses 19,667 22,007

Amounts due from margin clients (Note (a)) 7,885 3,526

Amounts due from cash clients 5,533 19,437

Other receivables 1,564 507

Prepaid expenses and deposits (Note (b)) 5,358 347

40,007 45,824
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10 Accounts Receivable and Prepaid Expenses (Cont’d)

(a) Margin clients of the brokerage division are required to pledge securities collateral to the Group in order 

to obtain the credit facilities for securities trading. The amount of credit facilities granted to them is 

determined based on a discount on the value of securities accepted by the Group. As at June 30, 2011, 

the total market value of securities pledged as collateral for the loans to margin clients was approximately 

US$75 million (2010: US$26 million). Amounts due from margin clients are repayable on demand and 

bear interest at commercial rates mainly based on the Hong Kong Prime Rate plus a flat rate. During the 

year, rates ranged from 7.25% – 9.25% (2010: 7.25% – 10%).

(b) As at June 30, 2011, the balance included a deposit of HK$40 million, approximately equivalent to 

US$5.1 million (the “Escrow Funds”), placed into an escrow account maintained by an international law 

firm in Hong Kong to provide funding proof of a client pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement 

dated March 28, 2011. As has been widely reported, a partner of the law firm has been arrested by the 

Hong Kong Police and charged with theft and forgery with respect to monies held in escrow account. 

The Group has been informed that the law firm has arranged for an external forensic examination to 

be conducted on its escrow account and no determination of the Group’s demand for return of the 

Escrow Funds will be made until the forensic examination is completed. The Group’s legal advisors have 

reviewed the documentary evidence in respect of the escrow agreement, have analyzed the legal duties 

and obligations of the law firm arising from the terms of the escrow agreement and have analyzed the 

legal and professional duties and obligations of the law firm arising from the receipt of the Escrow Funds 

(which were client monies and held in trust). In the event the Group’s demand for repayment of the 

Escrow Funds is denied, the Group’s legal advisors are of the opinion that the Group has good grounds 

to succeed in a potential legal claim against the law firm for the return of the Escrow Funds. Accordingly, 

the Group has not recognized any impairment loss as at June 30, 2011.

As of the balance sheet date, the management of the Group considered that the Escrow Funds will be 

recoverable in full from the law firm within the next twelve months. Should the Group have to take legal 

action to recover the Escrow Funds, the timing of recovering this amount may be longer than twelve 

months and the Group may not eventually recover the Escrow Funds in full if the law firm fails to honour 

the terms of the escrow agreement. The management of the Group currently consider such eventual 

outcome is not likely but continue to closely monitor the developments of this matter.
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10 Accounts Receivable and Prepaid Expenses (Cont’d)

(c) The aging analysis of accounts and other receivables net of impairment losses based on invoice/

advanced/trade date is as follows:

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Current and within one month 34,064 45,173

More than one month and within three months 379 117

More than three months 206 187

34,649 45,477

The aging analysis of accounts and other receivables net of impairment losses that were past due but 

not impaired is as follows:

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Within one month past due 335 84

More than one month and within three months past due 175 120

More than three months past due 73 160

583 364
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10 Accounts Receivable and Prepaid Expenses (Cont’d)

(d) Impairment losses in respect of accounts, loans and other receivables are recorded using an allowance 

account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the 

impairment loss is written off against accounts, loans and other receivables directly. Impairments of 

accounts, loans and other receivables are made in the consolidated statement of operations after 

proper review by the senior management, based on the latest status of the receivables, and the latest 

announced or available information about the underlying collateral held.

The movements in the allowance for impairment were as follows:

Amounts 

due from 

margin clients

Loans 

receivable

Other 

receivables Total

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

As at July 1, 2009 458 156 5,785 6,399

Amounts written off as 

 uncollectible – (156) (5,137) (5,293)

Impairment losses recognized 

 on receivables 1 – 74 75

As at June 30, 2010 and 

 July 1, 2010 459 – 722 1,181

Impairment losses recognized 

 on receivables – – 10 10

Amounts written off as 

 uncollectible – – (637) (637)

Amounts recovered during 

 the year – – 208 208

Impairment losses reversed – – (298) (298)

As at June 30, 2011 459 – 5 464
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11 Investments

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Available for sale financial assets – non-current (Note (a) & (c)) 7,222 5,892

Available for sale financial assets – current (Note (b)) 3,551 –

Provision for impairment in value other than temporary (Note (c)) – (2,100)

10,773 3,792

Investments subject to significant influence (Note (d)) 4,899 3,989

15,672 7,781

(a) During the year, the Group invested US$3,500,000 in unlisted investment funds. The investments were 

carried at fair value based on the net asset values of the investment funds reported to the Trustee by the 

independent fund administrators as of the balance sheet date.

(b) The Group invested approximately US$3,110,000 in unlisted equity securities. The investment was 

carried at fair value by using its initial public offering price as the price was already fixed as at June 30, 

2011 and the securities were listed in Hong Kong on July 4, 2011.

(c) During the year, the Group fully write off an investment amounted to US$2,100,000. Full impairment loss 

provision was made in prior years.

(d) In FY2011, the Group invested US$1,269,000 to acquire 11,666,667 common shares of Salmon River 

Resources Ltd (TSXV:SAL) through two private placement offerings. Details of the Group’s investments 

subject to significant influence are as follows:

Name

Place of 

Incorporation Principal Activities

Effective Equity Interest 

Held Indirectly by the Group

2011 2010

KCG Securities Asia 

 Limited

Hong Kong Securities brokerage 19.67% 22.28%

Sinochem Kingsway 

 Capital Inc.

Cayman Islands Investment holding 19.67% 22.28%

Salmon River 

 Resources Ltd.

Canada Evaluation, acquisition, exploration 

 and development of gold and

 base metal mineral properties 

 in Australia

29.53% –
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12 Other Financial Assets

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Statutory and other deposits 1,306 1,109

Others 161 161

1,467 1,270

13 Intangible Assets

During the year, the Group purchased 0.04% of listed shares of a subsidiary from the Exchange at a 

consideration of approximately US$50,000 and a goodwill of US$13,000 was recognized.

In February 2010, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement with a company related to a director 

to acquire the minority interests of 30% in a Group’s subsidiary at a total consideration of approximately 

CAD573,000 (equivalent to approximately US$542,000). A goodwill of US$425,000 was recognized in relation 

to the transaction.

2011

Gross Carrying 

Amount

Provision for 

Impairment Net Book Value

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Goodwill 7,854 (7,475) 379

Trading rights 825 (629) 196

Memberships 112 (9) 103

8,791 (8,113) 678

2010

Gross Carrying 

Amount

Provision for 

Impairment Net Book Value

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Goodwill 7,841 (7,475) 366

Trading rights 825 (629) 196

Memberships 112 (9) 103

8,778 (8,113) 665

After assessing the carrying value of the goodwill, no impairment was provided on the goodwill of a subsidiary 

during the current year (2010: US$425,000).
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14 Property and Equipment

2011

Cost

Accumulated 

Amortization

Provision for 

Impairment

Net Book 

Value

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Property 1,911 (224) (70) 1,617

Leasehold improvements 549 (489) – 60

Furniture and fixtures 217 (185) – 32

Office equipment and motor 

 vehicles 2,406 (2,007) – 399

5,083 (2,905) (70) 2,108

2010

Cost

Accumulated 

Amortization

Provision for 

Impairment

Net Book 

Value

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Property 1,911 (185) (70) 1,656

Leasehold improvements 559 (474) – 85

Furniture and fixtures 212 (163) – 49

Office equipment and motor 

 vehicles 2,243 (1,759) – 484

4,925 (2,581) (70) 2,274

As at June 30, 2011, the Group held office equipment under capital leases with net book value of US$5,000 

(2010: US$71,000). At the end of the lease term, the Group has the option to purchase the leased equipment 

at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None of the leases include contingent rentals. The capital 

leases was matured in July 2011.
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15 Bank Loans

(a) All bank loans were repaid during the year. As at June 30, 2010, the Group’s properties with 

net book values of US$1.7 million had been pledged as security for certain of the Group’s bank 

loans.

(b) Interest of approximately US$49,000 (2010: US$89,000) relating to these bank loans has 

been included in interest expense from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of 

operations.

(c) Some of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain 

of the statement of financial position ratios of the Group’s subsidiaries, as are commonly found 

in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, 

the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its 

compliance with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are 

set out in note 28. As at June 30, 2011, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities 

had been breached.

16 Obligations Under Capital Leases

As at June 30, 2011, the Group had obligations under capital leases repayable in the year ending June 30 as 

follows:

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

2011 – 87

2012 6 6

Total minimum lease payments 6 93

Less estimated executory costs – –

Net minimum lease payments 6 93

Less amount representing interest (at rate 11.456% p.a.) – (6)

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 6 87

Less: current portion (6) (81)

Long-term portion – 6

Interest of approximately US$6,000 (2010: US$15,000) relating to capital lease obligations has been included in 

interest expense.
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17 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Amounts due to brokers and clearing houses 6 4,266

Clients’ accounts payable 20,774 41,086

Accounts payable and accruals 5,381 3,545

26,161 48,897

18 Convertible Debentures

In September 2008, the Group issued 9% unsecured convertible debentures with an aggregate principal amount 

of CAD7.5 million (approximately US$7.0 million). The debentures bore coupon interest at the rate of 9% per 

annum payable semi-annually in arrears and mature on September 19, 2011 at their nominal value of CAD7.5 

million, or could be converted into shares at the holder’s option at any time prior to the close of business on the 

earlier of maturity and the business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption of the convertible 

debentures at a conversion price of CAD0.80 per share. The Group would have had the right to early redeem 

the debentures in whole or in part, if, and only if, the 20-day volume weighted average price of the common 

shares of the Company (the “Shares”) traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) exceeded CAD1.6 per 

share.

In November 2010, debentures with principal amount of CAD0.5 million (approximately equivalent to US$0.5 

million) was repurchased. The principal amount of total debentures outstanding was reduced to CAD7.0 million 

(approximately equivalent to US$7.0 million) after the repurchase.

In December 2010, the Group amended the terms and conditions of the debentures. The coupon interest 

reduced from 9% per annum to 1% per annum and the maturity date was extended by two years to September 

19, 2013. The conversion price was reduced from CAD0.80 per share to CAD0.55 (approximately equivalent 

to US$0.55) per share. The redemption price was also reduced from CAD0.80 per share to CAD0.55 

(approximately equivalent to US$0.55) per share if the 20-day volume weighted average price of the shares 

listed on the TSX exceeds CAD1.10 (approximately equivalent to US$1.10) per share (reduced from CAD1.60 

per share).

If the daily trading volume of the Shares in each of the previous 20 consecutive trading days prior to the 

redemption date equals or exceeds 10% of the aggregate number of Shares to be issued upon redemption 

on a cumulative basis, the Company may satisfy its obligation to pay the principal amount of the convertible 

debentures and any accrued and unpaid interest in whole or in part by delivering that number of Shares equal 

to the amount due and accrued interest thereon at a price of CAD0.55 (approximately equivalent to US$0.55) 

per Share as long as the market price of the Shares at the time of payment is equal to or less than CAD0.69 

(approximately equivalent to US$0.69) (reduced from CAD1.00) per share and if the market price of the Shares 

exceeds CAD0.69 (approximately equivalent to US$0.69) (reduced from CAD1.00) per share at the time of 

payment, the price at which the Shares may be issued for such payment may be no less than the market price 

less the maximum discount provided by the TSX regulations for private placements.
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18 Convertible Debentures (Cont’d)

The convertible debentures contain a liability component, a conversion option derivative component and 

a redemption option derivative component. As the amendment of the terms in December 2010 resulted in 

substantially different terms, the liability component and the conversion option derivative component of the 

original convertible debentures issued in 2008 were extinguished and were de-recognized during the year. A 

new liability component and a new conversion option derivative component in relation to the debentures with 

principal amount of CAD7.0 million (approximately equivalent to US$7.0 million) were recognized during the year.

The liability component was recognized at fair value at the date of issuance. The fair value of the liability 

component was calculated by discounting the contractual future cash flows using the market interest rates for 

non-convertible debentures with similar credit rating and remaining time to maturity. In subsequent periods, the 

liability component is carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate of 

the liability component of the re-issued debentures is 16% (2010: 14%).

In June 2011, debentures with principal amount of CAD1.0 million (approximately equivalent to US$1.0 

million) was converted into Shares (note 21(b)). As at June 30, 2011, the principal amount of total debentures 

outstanding was CAD6.0 million (approximately equivalent to US$6.2 million).

Net loss on financial derivative liabilities and convertible debentures comprised of the fair value loss on financial 

derivative liabilities arising from the convertible debentures of US$1,995,000 (2010: US$231,000) and the net 

loss on repurchase, amendment of terms and conversion of debentures of US$88,000 (2010: nil). The total net 

loss of US$2,083,000 was charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of operations during the year.

Black-Scholes model was used to determine the fair value of the conversion option derivative as at June 30, 

2011 and at initial recognition upon the amendment of terms in December 2010. Binomial model was used 

to determine the fair value of the conversion option derivative as at June 30, 2010. The probability for the 

occurrence of conversion was estimated using a binomial price tree. The main inputs to the valuation of the 

conversion option derivative included the implied price of the stock, life of the option, expected volatility and the 

risk free interest rate as follows:

June 2011 June 2010

Stock Price C$0.85 C$0.65

Option life 2.22 years 1.22 years

Volatility 60% 9%

Risk-free interest rate 1.59% 1.04%
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18 Convertible Debentures (Cont’d)

The movements of the liability and financial derivative components of the convertible debentures are as follows:

2011 2010

Liability 

Component

Financial 

Derivative 

Component Total

Liability 

Component

Financial 

Derivative 

Component Total

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

As at July 1, 2010/2009 6,588 239 6,827 5,744 7 5,751

Effective interest expenses 893 – 893 918 – 918

Interest paid (368) – (368) (635) – (635)

Fair value changes – 1,995 1,995 – 231 231

Repurchase of debentures (463) – (463) – – –

Conversion to Shares (738) (520) (1,258) – – –

Extinguishment of 

 debentures upon 

 modification of terms (6,505) (2) (6,507) – – –

Re-issue of debentures 

 upon modification of 

 terms 4,641 2,349 6,990 – – –

Exchange difference 381 174 555 561 1 562

As at June 30, 2011/2010 4,429 4,235 8,664 6,588 239 6,827

19 Gain on Deemed Partial Disposal of a Subsidiary

Pursuant to the share placing agreements and the subscription agreements dated November 23, 2010 and 

December 17, 2010, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, World Developments Limited (“WDL”), placed 

324,820,000 and 108,000,000 shares of SWK to independent third party placees at a price of HK$0.238 

(approximately equivalent to US$0.03) per share and HK$0.265 (approximately equivalent to US$0.03) per share 

respectively. At the same time, WDL subscribed for 324,820,000 and 108,000,000 of the new shares issued 

by SWK at the same price. The Group’s shareholding in SWK decreased from 74.25% to 65.52% after the two 

placings, with no change in both the number of shares held and the cost of investment. A gain on deemed 

partial disposal of approximately US$2,622,000 was resulted and recognized in the Group’s consolidated 

statement of operations during the year.



Sunwah International Limited  Annual Report 201180

notes to ConsoliDateD finanCial stateMents
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

20 Non-Controlling Interests

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Net advances from non-controlling interests 278 278

Non-controlling equity interests (Note (a)) 29,919 17,730

30,197 18,008

(a) Non-controlling equity interests represent interests held by others in SWK and other subsidiaries.

(b) Movement in non-controlling interests is as follows:

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

As at July 1, 2010/2009 18,008 16,750

Injection of capital 13,838 –

Return on capital (37) (135)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,288) (1,104)

Deemed partial disposal gain attributable to the holding 

 company upon placement to non-controlling interests (2,622) –

Release of reserve upon deemed partial disposal 490 –

Share of income 1,498 599

Share of reserves 310 –

Share of results of discontinued operations – 1,898

As at June 30, 2011/2010 30,197 18,008
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21 Capital Stock

2011 2010

No. of 

Common 

Shares Amount

No. of 

Common 

Shares Amount

(’000) US$ (’000) (’000) US$ (’000)

Authorized:

150,000,000 (2010: 

 150,000,000) common shares 

 with par value of US$0.04

Issued:

Balance, at beginning of the year 90,339 6,442 80,339 6,042

Issue of shares through 

 exercising of stock options 

 (note (a)) 208 8 – –

Issue of shares from conversion 

 of convertible debentures 

 (note (b)) 1,818 73 – –

Shares issued for cash (note (c)) – – 10,000 400

Balance, at end of the year 92,365 6,523 90,339 6,442

Notes:

(a) The Company and its subsidiaries operate two stock option plans and a Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) plan. Under the 

stock option plans, stock options are vested, subject to certain qualifying conditions, over a three-year period, with 

option lives ranging from thirty six months to sixty months.

Effective October 1, 2004, the Company established the DSU plan which is a share award plan used as a tool for 

providing compensation to directors.

A DSU is a notional common share having the same value as one common share (a “Share”) at the time of grant. As 

with a Share, the holder of a DSU is entitled to participate in any dividends declared by the Company and a DSU, 

once vested, may be exchanged without further payment for a Share issued from treasury. DSUs are personal to the 

individual to whom they have been issued and are not transferable.

A portion or all of future directors’ fees payable to directors will be paid by the issuance of DSUs. Independent 

directors’ annual base retainers will be satisfied by the issuance of DSUs pursuant to the DSU plan. Any other fees 

payable to independent directors may be satisfied in a combination of cash and DSUs at the election of the director. 

Any Shares necessary for the DSUs will be allocated from the Company’s stock option plan. As at June 30, 2011, 

approximately 754,000 shares (2010: 786,000 shares) were issued under the DSU plan. During the year, 207,401 

(2010: nil) DSUs were exchanged for common shares.
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21 Capital Stock (Cont’d)

(b) In June 2011, 1,818,181 common shares of the Company were converted from the Company’s convertible debentures 

with principal amount of CAD1,000,000 at the conversion price of CAD0.55 per share. The capital stock and the share 

premium has increased by US$73,000 and US$961,000 respectively.

(c) In June 2010, 10,000,000 common shares of the Company were issued for cash considerations of CAD5,000,000 

(equivalent to approximately US$4,693,000), through two tranches of private placement offering. The capital stock and 

the share premium has increased by US$400,000 and US$4,293,000 respectively.

(d) As at June 30, 2011, the reserve balance for the future issue of shares under the Company’s SWH Stock Option 

Scheme is approximately 335,000 shares (2010: approximately 8,606,000 shares). The Company’s SWK Stock Option 

Scheme maintains a reserve balance for the future issue of approximately 225,822,000 shares (2010: approximately 

244,941,000 shares).

(e) In 2007, stock options to subscribe for 2,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price of CAD0.70 

per share were granted to an officer. Options to subscribe for 1,000,000 shares vested during 2007 will expire on 

November 20, 2011. The 1,500,000 unvested stock options were cancelled on January 1, 2009.

In 2009, 1,500,000 stock options to subscribe for 1,500,000 common shares of the Company at a strike price 

of CAD0.80 per share were granted to the officer. The options were vested on January 1, 2009 and will expire on 

December 31, 2013.

In December 2010, 7,700,000 stock options to subscribe for 7,700,000 common shares of the Company at a strike 

price of CAD0.55 per share were granted by the Company to several directors, officers and employees of the Group. 

7,427,500 stock options were vested immediately with the remaining to be vested after 1-3 years. The options will 

expire on December 15, 2015. During the year, 5,000 of the unvested stock options were forfeited. On September 19, 

2011, 2,000,050 stock options which were over-allotted to the Company’s directors were subsequently cancelled.

(f) In June 2011, the Company entered into an investor relations consulting agreement with an independent third party for 

the provision of investor relations consulting service to the Company. In connection with the agreement, 400,000 stock 

options to subscribe for 400,000 common shares of the Company were granted to the service provider. 200,000 

stock options are exercisable at a price of CAD0.76 per share and 200,000 stock options are exercisable at CAD1.00 

per share. The initial tranche of 100,000 stock options was vested on June 1, 2011 and the remaining balance will be 

vested quarterly over a period of one year.

(g) In 2011, 99,000,000 stock options to subscribe for 99,000,000 shares of SWK at a strike price of HKD0.345 

(equivalent to US$0.04) per share were granted to the directors and officers of SWK. The options were vested on 

January 11, 2011 and will expire on January 10, 2014.
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(h) Included in selling and administrative expenses is approximately US$2,426,000 (2010: approximately US$165,000) 

related to stock based compensation, taking into account the cancellation of 2,000,050 stock options in September 

2011. A summary of the status of the Group’s stock option plans as at June 30, 2011 and 2010, and changes during 

the years ended on those dates, are presented below:

SWH Stock Option Scheme

2011 2010

No. of Shares

Weighted 

average 

exercise price No. of Shares

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

(’000) US$ (’000) US$

Outstanding at beginning of the year 2,500 0.76 2,500 0.65

Granted 8,100 0.57 – –

Forfeited (5) 0.55 – –

Outstanding at end of the year 

 (Weighted average remaining 

 contractual life – 3.68 years 

 (2010: 2.66 years)) 10,595 0.61 2,500 0.65

Options exercisable at end of the year^ 10,113 0.60 2,500 0.65

^ The table above includes the 2,000,050 stock options that was subsequently cancelled in September 2011.

There were no options exercised or expired during the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.
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The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 

the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 1.24% – 3.90%

Expected life 1 year to 5 years

Expected volatility 34.29% – 108.72%

Expected dividend yield 0% – 3.45%

The fair value of options at the time of granting ranged from US$0.10 to US$0.30.

The Company also adopted a share bonus plan on December 31, 1995, permitting common shares of the 

Company to be issued to eligible employees of the Company on a discretionary basis, provided certain 

conditions were satisfied. No such bonus shares were issued during the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.

SWK Stock Option Scheme

2011 2010

No. of Shares

Weighted 
average 

exercise price No. of Shares

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
(’000) US$ (’000) US$

Outstanding at beginning of 
 the year – – – –
Granted 99,000 0.04 – –

Outstanding at end of the year
 (Weighted average remaining 
 contractual life - 2.53 years 
 (2010: not applicable)) 99,000 0.04 – –

Options exercisable at end of 
 the year 33,000 0.04 – –

There were no options exercised, forfeited or expired during the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 

the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 0.42% – 0.74%

Average expected life 1.5 years – 2.5 years

Expected volatility 57.9% – 76.4%

Expected dividend yield 2.99%

The fair value of options at the time of granting ranged from US$0.01 to US$0.02.
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The Black-Scholes option valuation model used by the Group to determine fair values was developed for use 

in estimating the fair value of freely traded options, which are fully transferable and have no vesting restrictions. 

In addition, this model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility 

and expected time until exercise. Because the Company’s outstanding stock options have characteristics that 

are significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in any of the assumptions can 

materially affect the fair value estimate, in Management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide 

a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock options.

22 Contributed Surplus and Share Premium

2011
Contributed 

Surplus
Share 

Premium Total
US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Balance as at July 1, 2010 1,657 50,193 51,850
Stock based compensation charged for 
 the year 2,152 – 2,152
Issue of shares through exercising of 
 stock options (140) 132 (8)
Issued of shares from conversion of 
 convertible debentures (note 21(b)) – 961 961
Release of reserves upon deemed partial 
 disposal of a subsidiary (521) – (521)
Dividends paid on stock based 
 compensation 17 – 17

Balance as at June 30, 2011 3,165 51,286 54,451

2010
Contributed 

Surplus
Share 

Premium Total
US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Balance as at July 1, 2009 3,009 45,900 48,909
Stock based compensation charged for 
 the year 165 – 165
Premium on shares issued for cash 
 (note 21(c)) – 4,293 4,293
Dividends paid (1,529) – (1,529)
Dividends paid on stock based 
 compensation 12 – 12

Balance as at June 30, 2010 1,657 50,193 51,850
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23 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

2011
Foreign 

Exchange 
Reserve

Investment 
Revaluation 

Reserve Total
US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Balance as at July 1, 2010 1,156 – 1,156
Foreign currency translation adjustment 4 – 4
Fair value changes on available for
 sale financial assets – 292 292
Release of reserves upon deemed partial 
 disposal of a subsidiary 31 – 31

Balance as at June 30, 2011 1,191 292 1,483

2010
Foreign 

Exchange 
Reserve

Investment 
Revaluation 

Reserve Total
US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Balance as at July 1, 2009 579 – 579
Foreign currency translation adjustment 577 – 577

Balance as at June 30, 2010 1,156 – 1,156

24 Income Taxes

The operations of the Group’s companies are substantially conducted in foreign jurisdictions and accordingly 

are not considered to be business conducted in Canada for the purposes of the Canadian Income Tax Act. The 

results arising from the operations are therefore not subject to Canadian tax.

Realized/unrealized foreign currency translation gains/losses arising from translation of foreign subsidiaries 

included in other comprehensive income are not subject to taxation in the respective jurisdictions of the holding 

companies.
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2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Income/(loss) before income taxes, non-controlling interests 

 and discontinued operations 2,476 (717)

Less: share of loss of investments subject to significant influence 364 22

2,840 (695)

Income tax based on Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% 

 (2010: 16.5%) 468 (114)

Effect on income taxes of subsidiaries operating in 

 other jurisdictions with different tax rates 895 208

Other effects on income tax based on Hong Kong statutory 

 tax rate of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%):

– Non-deductible expenses 204 24

– Non-taxable revenue (660) (67)

– Utilization of tax losses not previously recognized (1,207) (738)

– Tax losses not recognized 316 688

– Others 71 16

Income tax charge 87 17

Represented by:

Current income tax 94 24

Future income tax (7) (7)

87 17

Future tax liability:

Accounting values of property and equipment in excess of 

 tax value 32 39

As at June 30, 2011, the Group had not recognized future tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of 

US$48 million (2010: US$53 million). Over 95% of the tax losses were attributable to Hong Kong business 

operations and do not expire under current tax regulation.



Sunwah International Limited  Annual Report 201188

notes to ConsoliDateD finanCial stateMents
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

25 Discontinued Operations and Jointly Controlled Entities

On November 26, 2009, the Group entered into a share purchase agreement to dispose of the Group’s interest 

in a jointly controlled entity, Total Express Investments Limited (“Total Express”) and to assign the debts due from 

the jointly controlled entities. Total Express is the ultimate holding company of Overseas Billion Limited, Well 

Talent Limited and Luxury Development Limited which jointly held the entire interest in investment properties 

in the PRC within the Structured Investment segment. The disposal was completed in March 2010 with sale 

proceeds (less selling costs) of approximately US$25 million. The resultant gain of approximately US$5,683,000, 

after deducting attributable non-controlling interest of approximately US$1,971,000, was included in results of 

discontinued operations.

The operating results in respect of these operations have been presented as discontinued operations:

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Discontinued operations:

Revenue – 515

Expenses – (770)

Loss before income taxes – (255)

Income tax charge – (28)

Non-controlling interests – 73

Net loss from discontinued operations – (210)

26 Earnings/(Loss) per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share:

2011 2010

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

Income/(loss) for the year, being income/(loss) attributable to 

 common shareholders before discontinued operations 891 (1,333)

Discontinued operations – 5,473

Income for the year, being income available to common 

 shareholders after discontinued operations 891 4,140
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26 Earnings/(Loss) per Share (Cont’d)

2011

 Shares

2010

 Shares

(’000) (’000)

Weighted average common shares – basic earnings/(loss) 

 per share 90,846 82,839

Effect of dilutive securities – stock options 2,316 717

Weighted average common shares – diluted earnings/(loss) 

 per share 93,162 83,556

2011 2010

US$ US$

Basic

Before discontinued operations 0.0098 (0.0161)

Discontinued operations – 0.0661

After discontinued operations 0.0098 0.0500

Diluted

Before discontinued operations 0.0096 (0.0161)

Discontinued operations – 0.0656

After discontinued operations 0.0096 0.0495

For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company had excluded the potential common share 

issuable in relation to the convertible debentures from the diluted earning/(loss) per share calculation as they 

were considered anti-dilutive.

27 Commitments

(a) Amounts payable in future years ending June 30 for operating lease commitments are as follows:

Land and 

Buildings

Office 

Equipment

US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

2012 1,526 18

2013 168 8

2014 142 –

2015 146 –

2016 36 –

2,018 26
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(b) As at June 30, 2011, the Group entered into several underwriting agreements in relation to the initial 

public offerings and right issue of certain companies and had a gross commitment of approximately 

US$5.8 million (2010: US$0.8 million).

(c) On March 30, 2011, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a conditional agreement with Ms. Choi Siu 

Ping, sister of Dr. Jonathan Choi and Mr. Michael Choi, to acquire 100 issued shares, representing 

10% of the issued share capital of VinaCapital Group Limited at a consideration of HK$149 million, 

approximately equivalent to US$19.1 million. VinaCapital Group Limited is an investment holding 

company for a financial services group conducting investment activities and providing investment 

management services in Vietnam. The Group terminated the transaction on September 1, 2011.

28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk, foreign exchange 

risk and interest rate risk. These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices 

described below.

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from a number of areas. These include the possibility that a counterparty in a 

transaction may default during the settlement process. It also arises from lending, settlement, treasury, 

market making, proprietary trading, and other activities undertaken by the Group.

The Group’s credit risk mainly arises from its operations in Hong Kong. The Finance and Credit 

Committees in Hong Kong are responsible for establishing the credit approval and monitoring 

procedures, which are in accordance with sound business practices, the requirements and provisions 

of the relevant ordinances, and where applicable, the codes or guidelines issued by the Hong Kong 

Securities and Futures Commission.

Day-to-day credit management is performed by the Operations Department in Hong Kong with reference 

to the aforementioned criteria including creditworthiness, collateral pledged, and risk concentration of the 

counterparties. The Finance Committee and Credit Committee in Hong Kong are responsible for review 

of guidelines on credit limits on a regular basis and approval of specific loans or advances if the amount 

exceeds our pre-set guideline.

Accounts, loans and other receivables consist of amounts due from brokers, clearing houses, clients, 

term loans and other receivable items. In respect of advances to clients, the Group generally requires 

collateral from clients before advances are granted. Collateral normally takes the form of listed securities 

or cash deposits. Amounts due from brokers are treated as lower credit risk as counterparties are 

reputable financial institutions. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s accounts, 

loans and other receivables related to a large number of diversified customers and counterparties, the 

Group does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(a) Credit Risk (Cont’d)

The credit risk on listed debt securities is limited as the issuers are companies listed in Hong Kong and 

Japan. Investment in unlisted derivative financial instruments are governed by whether the issuers have 

good credit ratings. The latest financial position of the issuers will be reported to senior management for 

considering of the credit risk of these investments.

The Group has limited credit risk from bank deposits by restricting the selection to leading and reputable 

banks and financial institutions. The Group has not had any significant loss arising from non-performance 

by these parties in the past and management does not expect so in the future.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral held or other credit 

enhancements is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset. The Group does not provide 

any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there 

was no recent history of default. Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of 

independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, senior 

management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there 

has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

Other than the amounts due from margin clients as described in note 10(a), the Group does not hold 

any collateral over the receivables. Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to 

credit risk arising from accounts, loans and other receivables are set out in note 10.

(b) Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity position to ensure the Group maintains a prudent and adequate liquidity 

ratio, in strict accordance with statutory requirements. This is achieved by the management, comprising 

the Chief Financial Officer and relevant senior managers monitoring the liquidity position of the Group on 

a daily basis to ensure the availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations and compliance with 

the statutory requirements such as the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules 

applying to various licensed subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong.
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(b) Liquidity Risk (Cont’d)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s 

financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments 

computed using contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Repayment on 
demand 
or within 

one month

More than 
one month 
but within 

three months

More than
three months but 

within one year

More than 
one year but 

within five years Over five years Total
US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000)

As at June 30, 2011
Accounts payable and amounts 
 due to related parties 21,880 – – – – 21,880
Obligations under capital leases 6 – – – – 6
Convertible debentures – – 62 6,273 – 6,335

21,886 – 62 6,273 – 28,221

As at June 30, 2010
Accounts payable and amounts 
 due to related parties 35,954 – – – – 35,954
Bank loans 9 19 84 432 14 558
Obligations under capital leases 7 15 65 6 – 93
Convertible debentures – – 633 7,177 – 7,810

35,970 34 782 7,615 14 44,415

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements including dividend payments to 

shareholders and payments of accrued expenses to ensure that sufficient reserves of cash is maintained 

to satisfy its contractual and foreseeable obligations as they fall due.

(c) Price Risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from investments classified as financial assets or financial 

liabilities held for trading and available for sale financial assets.

The Group’s listed equity investments and listed debt securities are mainly listed on The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong and the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited respectively. Decisions to buy or 

sell trading securities are made by assigned investment managers and governed by specific investment 

guidelines. The Investment Monitoring Committee (“IMC”) was set up in Hong Kong for the purposes 

of independently monitoring the positions of the Hong Kong subsidiaries’ proprietary trading activities 

involving equities and derivatives. In addition to the IMC, the Group’s exposures are closely monitored 

by the Finance Department and senior management on a daily basis and are measured on a “mark-

to-market” basis. The Group’s various proprietary trading activities are reported monthly to senior 

management for review.
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(c) Price Risk (Cont’d)

For sensitivity analysis purposes of listed equity investments, the market price of the Tracker Fund of 

Hong Kong is assumed to be increased/decreased in line with the movement of the Hang Seng Index. 

The risk exposure was quantified by comparing the Group’s portfolio beta to the beta of the Tracker Fund 

of Hong Kong. In addition, the Group also makes reference to other relevant indexes for investments 

listed outside Hong Kong. Assuming a 10% upward/downward movement in the Hang Seng Index or 

the relevant stock index outside Hong Kong, with all other variables held constant at the balance sheet 

date, the Group’s income before income taxes, non-controlling interests and discontinued operations 

would have increased/decreased by an estimated US$2,100,000 (2010: loss before income taxes, 

non-controlling interests and discontinued operations would have decreased/increased by an estimated 

US$4,958,000).

For listed debt securities, it is assumed that the yield of individual debt increased by 50 basis points 

and all other variables held constant at the balance sheet date, the Group’s income before income 

taxes, non-controlling interests and discontinued operations would have decreased by an estimated 

US$76,000.

For unlisted investment funds and equity security, it is assumed that the unit price of the funds and the 

share price of the equity security increased/decreased by 10% and all other variables held constant 

at the balance sheet date, the Group’s income before income taxes, non-controlling interests and 

discontinued operations would have increased/decreased by an estimated US$684,000.

(d) Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from movements of foreign exchange 

rates. Foreign exchange risk is monitored by the Finance Department and senior management on a daily 

basis. Monetary assets are measured daily on a “mark-to-market” basis. Non-current assets are revalued 

regularly using the market exchange rates. Overall positions are reported monthly to senior management 

for review.

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Canada. The Hong Kong Dollar is linked to the United 

States Dollar and it is considered that no foreign exchange risk from the Hong Kong Dollar is material. 

The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from currency exposures originating from its 

proprietary investments, bank balances in foreign operation and the liability component of the convertible 

debentures. Principal brokerage and lending operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong Dollars to 

obviate foreign exchange risk. Accordingly, the Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange 

fluctuations on accounts and loan receivables.
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(d) Foreign Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the balance sheet date to currency risk arising from 

recognized assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than United States Dollars.

HKD RMB CAD Others

As at June 30, 2011 US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000)

Available for sale financial assets 3,551 – – –

Other financial assets 1,376 18 – –

Financial assets held for trading 23,045 523 6,236 –

Accounts receivable, prepaid 

 expenses and amounts due from 

 related parties 39,261 7 93 105

Cash and bank balances 32,356 373 1,433 6

Accounts payable and amounts 

 due to related parties (21,815) – – (39)

Financial derivative liabilities – – (4,235) –

Bank loans and obligations under 

 capital leases (6) – – –

Convertible debentures – – (4,429) –

Net exposure arising from 

 recognized assets and liabilities 77,768 921 (902) 72

HKD RMB CAD Others

As at June 30, 2010 US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000)

Other financial assets 1,185 35 – –

Financial assets held for trading 40,470 – 3,544 –

Accounts receivable, prepaid 

 expenses and amounts due 

 from related parties 32,295 8 80 644

Cash and bank balances 28,039 49 4,733 25

Accounts payable and amounts 

 due to related parties (34,972) (39) – (639)

Financial derivative liabilities – – (239) –

Bank loans and obligations 

 under capital leases (211) – – –

Convertible debentures – – (6,588) –

Net exposure arising from 

 recognized assets and 

 liabilities 66,806 53 1,530 30
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(d) Foreign Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

An analysis of the estimated change in the Group’s income/(loss) before income taxes, non-controlling 

interests and discontinued operations in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign 

exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the balance sheet date is presented in 

the following table.

June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010

Increase/

(decrease) in 

exchange rates

Increase/

(decrease) on 

income before 

income taxes, 

non-controlling 

interests and 

discontinued 

operations 

Increase/

(decrease) in 

exchange rates

Increase/

(decrease) on 

loss before 

income taxes, 

non-controlling

 interests and 

discontinued 

operations 

(in US$’000) (in US$’000)

Renminbi, RMB +5% 46 +5% (3)

-5% (46) -5% 3

Canadian Dollar, CAD +5% (45) +5% (77)

-5% 45 -5% 77

The above analysis assumes the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the balance sheet 

date and had been applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk in existence at 

that date while all other variables remain constant. The stated changes also represent management’s 

assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates until the next balance sheet date.

(e) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk primarily results from timing differences in the re-pricing of interest bearing assets, 

liabilities and commitments. The Group’s interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from bank balances, 

margin financing, bank loans and other lending activities undertaken. Interest rates paid by the Group are 

managed by the Finance Department with the aim of maximizing the spread of interest consistent with 

liquidity and funding obligations.

Assuming that the Hong Kong market interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other 

variables held constant at the balance sheet date, the Group’s income before income taxes, non-

controlling interests and discontinued operations would have an estimated increase of US$217,000 

(2010: loss before income taxes, non-controlling interests and discontinued operations would have an 

estimated decrease of US$184,000).
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an 
arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. 
The best evidence of fair value is a quoted bid price for financial assets, or an ask price for financial 
liabilities, from an active market. Where independent quoted market prices do not exist, the Company 
estimates fair values based on market quotations of similar securities, other third party evidence or 
valuation techniques.

Except for certain receivables and payables, the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are carried on 
the balance sheet at fair value. Management is of the opinion that the carrying value of receivables and 
payables approximates fair value due to their short-term to maturity.

The majority of financial assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value are valued based on observable 
market quotations. Where valuation techniques are required to determine fair value, management makes 
assumptions such as the amount and timing of future cash flows, rates of estimated credit losses 
and discount rates. These assumptions are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and matters of 
significant judgement.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable:

•	 Level	1	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	 Level	2	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

•	 Level	3	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	valuation	techniques	that	include	inputs	
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured as at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at June 30, 2011 US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000)

Assets
Financial assets held for trading 32,480 1,281 – 33,761
Available for sale financial assets – 10,773 – 10,773

Total 32,480 12,054 – 44,534

Liabilities
Financial derivative liabilities – 4,235 – 4,235

Total – 4,235 – 4,235
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28 Financial Instruments and Risk Exposure (Cont’d)

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at June 30, 2010 US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000) US$(’000)

Assets

Financial assets held for trading 44,082 771 – 44,853

Total 44,082 771 – 44,853

Liabilities

Financial derivative liabilities – 239 – 239

Total – 239 – 239

29 Capital Management

The Group’s objective for capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

to enhance shareholder value and to match the business funding needs. The Group manages its capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it in line with the changes in economic conditions and business strategies 

by adjusting the dividend payout ratio, returning capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. During the year, 

the Group consistently followed the objectives and applied the policies and process on managing capital.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Certain subsidiaries of the Company 

are subject to regulatory imposed capital and liquid capital requirements (Note 28). These subsidiaries complied 

with those requirements at all times during both the current and prior financial years.

The Group monitors capital using a target gearing ratio of 10% – 60%, which is total borrowings divided by the 

shareholders’ equity. Total borrowings comprise of bank borrowings, obligations under capital leases, convertible 

debentures and financial derivative liabilities. Shareholders’ equity comprises all components of equity 

attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratio as at June 30, 2011 and 2010 were 

as follows:

2011 2010

US$(’000) US$(’000)

Total bank borrowings – 517

Total obligations under capital leases 6 87

Total convertible debentures 4,429 6,588

Total financial derivative liabilities 4,235 239

Total borrowings 8,670 7,431

Shareholders’ equity 63,896 61,815

Gearing ratio 14% 12%
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30 Subsidiaries

The Group’s significant subsidiaries as at the end of the years are as follows:

Name

Place of 

Incorporation

Principal 

Activities

Effective Equity Interest 

Held by the Group

2011 2010

Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings

 Limited (formerly known as

 SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Ltd)#

Bermuda Investment holding 65.56% 74.25%

Kingsway Financial Services Group

 Limited

Hong Kong Securities, options and 

 futures brokerage

65.56% 74.25%

Kingsway Capital Limited Hong Kong Provision of financial advisory 

 services

65.56% 74.25%

Kingsway Group Services Limited Hong Kong Provision of management 

 services

65.56% 74.25%

Kingsway SW Asset Management

 Limited

British Virgin Islands Provision of investment 

 advisory services

65.56% 74.25%

Billion On Development Limited Hong Kong Property holding 65.56% 74.25%

Kingsway Lion Spur Technology

 Limited

British Virgin Islands Securities investment 65.56% 74.25%

Best Advisory Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 65.56% –

Kingsway SBF Investment

 Management Company Limited *

British Virgin Islands Provision of investment 

 advisory services

33.44% 37.87%

Kingsway SW Finance Limited Hong Kong Provision of loan services 

 & financing

65.56% 74.25%

Bill Lam & Associates Limited Hong Kong Provision of corporate services 65.56% 74.25%

Kingsway China Investments Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% 74.25%

Sunwah Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Property holding 65.56% –

Primo Results Limited Hong Kong Investment holding 65.56% –

Daceasy (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Software distribution 54.05% 54.05%
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Name

Place of 

Incorporation

Principal 

Activities

Effective Equity Interest 

Held by the Group

2011 2010

Pop Electronic Products Limited Hong Kong Development and distribution 

 of computer software and 

 hardware

54.05% 54.05%

Kingsway Capital of Canada Inc. Canada Provision of financial advisory 

 services

100.00% 100.00%

Sunwah International Financial Services

 Limited (formerly known as Kingsway 

 Financial Services Limited)

Hong Kong Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%

KIH (Macau) Ltd Macau Provision of advisory services 100.00% 100.00%

Sunwah International Investments (HK)

 Limited (formerly known as 

 Kingsway International Limited 

Hong Kong Investment holding and 

 provision of general 

 advisory services

100.00% 100.00%

Excel Courage Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%

Masterbuilt Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%

Goal Brilliant Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%

Excel Unison Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%

Wholly Bright Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%

Sunwah International Asset 

 Management

Cayman Islands Provision of asset 

 management services

70.00% –

 (Cayman) Limited

Excel Day Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding 100.00% –

# On August 12, 2011, SWK announced the proposed change of company name to Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings 

Limited. The change of company name was subsequently approved by the shareholders at SWK’s special general meeting 

held on September 12, 2011 and was approved by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda on September 16, 2011. The 

board of directors of SWK considers that the new name better reflect the shareholding structure of SWK and allow SWK to 

take advantage of the recognition and goodwill associated with the “Sunwah” name.

* The Company indirectly controls these subsidiaries through SWK, which holds 51% controlling interest of these 

subsidiaries.

30 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
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31 Segmented Information

Information reported to the Board of Directors of the Company being the chief operating decision marker, for the 

purposes of resource allocation and assessment performance focuses on types of services provided.

The Group’s activities are organized under the following operating segments:

Investment in securities : Investment in securities for treasury and liquidity management

Structured investment : Investment in structured deals including listed and unlisted equities, 

debt securities and investment properties

Brokerage : Provision of securities, option, futures and commodities brokerage 

services, margin and other financings and other related services

Corporate finance & capital markets : Provision of financial advisory services to corporate clients and 

acting as underwriting and placing agent in the equity capital market

Asset management : Provision of real estate services, asset management and related 

advisory services to private equity funds and private clients

Corporate and other activities : Provision of management, administrative and corporate secretarial 

services, inter-group loan financing and inter-group office leasing. 

The segment also includes the corporate activities of the Group and 

the investment in technologies companies.

Inter-segment revenues are charged among segments at an agreed rate with reference to the rate normally 

charged to third party customers, the nature of services or the costs incurred.
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31 Segmented Information (Cont’d)

Investment 

in Securities

Structured 

Investment Brokerage

Corporate 

Finance 

& Capital 

Markets

Asset 

Management

Corporate 

and Other 

Activities

Inter-

Segment 

Elimination

Total 

Continuing 

Operations

Discontinued

 Operations Total

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

Revenue from services and 

 other income 790 188 9,075 4,834 – 1,383 – 16,270 – 16,270

Trading income/(loss) 8,805 2,447 (36) (2) – – – 11,214 – 11,214

Total revenue 9,595 2,635 9,039 4,832 – 1,383 – 27,484 – 27,484

Inter-segment revenue – – 325 245 – 3,290 (3,860) – – –

Selling and administrative expenses (1,434) (1,162) (10,570) (5,593) (1,041) (7,957) 3,860 (23,897) – (23,897)

Amortization – (6) (114) (27) (2) (188) – (337) – (337)

Net loss on financial derivative 

 liabilities and convertible debentures – (2,083) – – – – – (2,083) – (2,083)

Gain on deemed partial disposal of 

 a subsidiary – – – – – 2,622 – 2,622 – 2,622

Loss on disposal of property and 

 equipment – (1) – – – – – (1) – (1)

Interest expense (2) (893) (39) – – (14) – (948) – (948)

Share of loss of investments subject 

 to significant influence – (340) (24) – – – – (364) – (364)

Income/(loss) before income taxes 

 and non-controlling interests 8,159 (1,850) (1,383) (543) (1,043) (864) – 2,476 – 2,476

Income tax charge (87) – (87)

Income before non-controlling interests 2,389 – 2,389

Non-controlling interests (1,498) – (1,498)

Income for the year 891 – 891

Segment total assets 28,337 20,226 57,072 2,474 726 20,642 – 129,477 – 129,477
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31 Segmented Information (Cont’d)

Investment 

in Securities

Structured 

Investment Brokerage

Corporate 

Finance & 

Capital 

Markets

Asset 

Management

Corporate 

and Other 

Activities

Inter-

Segment 

Elimination

Total 

Continuing 

Operations

Discontinued 

Operations Total

US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000) US$ (’000)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Revenue from services and 

 other income 441 6 8,549 2,407 3 944 – 12,350 515 12,865

Trading income/(loss) 6,423 824 (24) 83 – – – 7,306 – 7,306

Total revenue 6,864 830 8,525 2,490 3 944 – 19,656 515 20,171

Inter-segment revenue – – 101 – – 2,625 (2,726) – – –

Selling and administrative expenses (882) (1,115) (10,286) (2,734) (179) (5,843) 2,726 (18,313) (376) (18,689)

Amortization and impairment – (13) (129) (441) (1) (220) – (804) (271) (1,075)

Net loss on financial derivative liabilities 

 and convertible debentures – (231) – – – – – (231) – (231)

Gain on disposal of available for 

 sale financial assets – – – – – 43 – 43 – 43

Loss on disposal of property and 

 equipment – – – (22) – (2) – (24) – (24)

Interest expense (6) (918) (61) – – (37) – (1,022) (123) (1,145)

Share of loss of investments subject 

 to significant influence – (17) 15 – (20) – – (22) – (22)

Income/(loss) before income taxes 

 and non-controlling interests 5,976 (1,464) (1,835) (707) (197) (2,490) – (717) (255) (972)

Income tax charge (17) (28) (45)

Loss before non-controlling interests (734) (283) (1,017)

Non-controlling interests (599) 73 (526)

Net gain on disposal of shares of 

 jointly controlled entities classified 

 as discontinued operations – 5,683 5,683

(Loss)/income for the year (1,333) 5,473 4,140

Segment total assets 41,723 14,326 61,776 1,568 112 17,133 – 136,638 – 136,638
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32 Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of income/(loss) before income taxes, non-controlling interests and discontinued 

operations to adjusted loss from operations:

2011 2010

US(’000) US(’000)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income/(loss) before income taxes, non-controlling 

 interests, and discontinued operations 2,476 (717)

Net realized and unrealized gains on financial assets/

 liabilities held for trading (11,214) (7,306)

Amortization of property and equipment 337 379

Gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets – (43)

Gain on deemed partial disposal of a subsidiary (2,622) –

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 1 24

Net loss on financial derivative liabilities and convertible 

 debentures 2,083 231

Share of loss of investments subject to significant 

 influence 364 22

(Reversal of)/provision for impairment losses of 

 receivables (288) 75

Impairment charges on goodwill – 425

Interest on convertible debentures 893 918

Dividend received from an available for sale financial asset (186) –

Stock-based compensation 2,426 177

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (240) 586

Adjusted loss from operations (5,970) (5,229)

(b) Changes in operating working capital

2011 2010

US$(’000) US$(’000)

Due (from)/to related parties (305) 84

Other financial assets (197) (99)

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 6,109 (11,700)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (22,748) 22,478

(17,141) 10,763

(c) Purchase of property and equipment

2011 2010

US(’000) US(’000)

Cost of property and equipment (167) (180)
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33 Subsequent Events

(a) On August 8, 2011, the Group entered into a provisional agreement with an independent third party to 

acquire a property with purchase price of HK$206.3 million, approximately equivalent to US$26.5 million. 

The property comprise the entire 7th floor of Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong 

and will be used as the Group’s office premises. The transaction is expected to be completed on or 

before January 19, 2012.

(b) On June 27, 2011, the Group announced the proposed acquisition of a 80% shareholding interest in 

PCE Investors Limited, the proposed novation of the investment management agreements of RAB Energy 

Fund and RAB Octane Fund as well as an investor’s commitment on investing into the RAB Energy and 

Octane Fund. Subsequently on August 10, 2011, the Group announced the Group’s and the potential 

investor’s termination of the proposed transactions due to the uncertainties in the United States and 

European markets.
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